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FOREWORD OF THE CHAIRMAN  
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dear ladies and gentlemen, colleagues and friends,

We are proud to publish Eustream’s annual report, 
which documents the condition and development 
of the Slovak natural gas transmission system 

operator in 2016. I can take pride in saying that Eustream 
has put another successful season in the books in which 
we achieved positive financial results and once again 
confirmed the standing of the Eustream brand as a stable 
and reliable partner for the European gas industry.

Eustream’s business activities are based on almost 
45 years of tradition of reliable transmission system 
operation, professional management, a pro-customer 
approach and respectful relationships with all our 
partners and stakeholders. Our core business is 
natural gas transmission based on transparent and 
non-discriminatory rules in compliance with European 
and domestic legislation and contractual commitments.

The Eustream transmission system transported a total 
of 60.6 billion cubic metres of natural gas (642.9 TWh) 
in 2016, representing a year-on-year increase of nearly 
ten per cent. We fully delivered on all commitments to 
our customers for transmission services at all connection 

points throughout the year, and including extraordinary 
increases in transmission, especially during the summer 
shut-down of the Nord Stream gas pipeline.

More than 95 per cent of transmission activities 
were performed for international customers, users 
of the transmission system in Slovakia and gas traders 
active in a variety of European countries. Nearly 1,500 
new confirmed reservations for transmission capacity 
were registered in 2016 and nearly 1,600 active contracts 
to access the transmission system and for natural gas 
transmission were recorded in the same period.

In addition to the smooth transit of Russian natural gas 
to EU countries, representing the largest portion of our 
transmission volumes, Eustream once again played an 
important role in providing reverse flow to Ukraine. To 
meet market demand, the company repeatedly made 
temporary increases in interruptible capacity available 
at the connection point in Budince, which has since 
April served as well as entry point, thereby allowing 
transmission also from Ukraine to Slovakia.FO
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Tomáš Mareček
chairman of the board of directors

Eustream also continues to monitor current trends 
in the European gas industry and the needs of our 
customers, which are carefully taken into consideration 
when making investment decisions. A detailed 
breakdown of planned projects is contained in the 2017 – 
2026 eustream, a.s. Transmission System Development Plan, 
which was completed under §59 of Act No. 251/2012 
Coll. on Energy. The transmission system development 
plan includes two major projects classified as projects 
of common interest for the European Union: the Poland 
– Slovakia gas connection pipeline and the Eastring 
gas pipeline. A major milestone in both projects was 
the submission of a grant application to the European 
Commission, a step that is covered in more detail further 
on in the annual report. The common denominator 
of both projects is improvements in energy security 
and market liquidity in both Central and South-eastern 
Europe, which ultimately is a benefit for all natural 
gas market stakeholders, including customers. Major 
progress has been made in both projects thanks to close 
collaboration with our partners in Poland and in Bulgaria, 
Romania and Hungary (Eastring).

In addition to expanding business relations and making 
progress on transmission system development 
projects, we placed added emphasis on streamlining 
the company’s internal operations in 2016. Optimisation 
of the organisational structure served to reinforce 
the competitiveness of the company as the Slovak 
transmission company within the context of Europe 
and vis-a-vis our company’s planned projects.

I’d like to take this opportunity in concluding to express 
sincere thanks to all our customers, business partners 
and investors for their trust and cooperation in 2016. 
Particular thanks are due to all our employees whose 
professional work contributes to the strong reputation 
of the Slovak gas industry and Eustream as a company.

Tomáš Mareček 
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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COMPANY PROFILE

Eustream – gas crossroads of Central Europe

Eustream is a modern company with a long 
tradition and extensive experience in natural 
gas transmission. Eustream’s basic mission is 
natural gas transmission in Slovakia and through 

the country to the European market. Since 1972, 
Eustream has transported nearly 2.5 trillion cubic metres 
of natural gas through Slovakia, building on the 160-year 
history of the Slovak gas industry and continuing in the 
more than 40-year tradition of international natural gas 
transmission in Slovakia.

Eustream is the high-pressure transmission system 
operator in Slovakia. System transmission capacities are 
used by major energy companies from EU member states 
and non-member states alike. System access is provided 
to all partners in a transparent and non-discriminatory 
manner in accordance with European and Slovak gas 
legislation.

Eustream’s key priorities are security, reliability and 
performance. Relationships with customers are based 
on a professional approach and transparent and 
non-discriminatory rules. The company responds to 
market demands and provides clients with a broad range 
of natural gas transmission-related services.

SPP Infrastructure, a. s., with registered office 
at Mlynské nivy 44/a, 825 11 Bratislava 
owned 100% of eustream, a.s., shares as 
of 31 December 2016.

Eustream owns 15% of the shares of Central European 
Gas Hub AG with registered office at Floridsdorfer 
Hauptstrasse 1, 1210 Vienna, Austria and 100% 
of the shares of Eastring B.V. with registered office 
in Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

Eustream did not have any ownership interests 
in other companies or organisational units abroad as 
at 31 December 2016.
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Tranzitní  
plynovod, k.p., 
Prague

1970
Slovtransgaz 
division,  
Slovenský 
plynárenský 
priemysel, a.s.

1993
Tranzit division, 
Slovenský 
plynárenský 
priemysel, a.s.

2003
SPP - preprava, a.s.

2006
eustream, a.s.

2008

History of Eustream

6



Eustream’s transmission system

Eustream’s transmission system represents 
an important energy connection between 
the Russian Federation and the European Union. 
It is connected to the primary transmission routes 

in Ukraine, Czech Republic, Austria and Hungary.

The transmission system is comprised of four to five 
parallel pipes, 1200 or 1400 mm in diameter, with 
an operating pressure of 7.35 MPa. Four compressor 
stations with combined output of nearly 550 MW provide 
the power needed to ensure the smooth flow of gas. 
The most important compressor station is located 
at the Slovak-Ukrainian border at Veľké Kapušany. With 
roughly 300 MW of installed output, this is the largest 
compressor station in the European Union. Daily 
technical capacity at the entry point at Veľké Kapušany is 
2090.4 GWh, or 201 million cubic metres per day.

Eustream‘s core business is focused on international 
natural gas transmission. Access to transmission system 
capacities is based on the Entry - Exit principle. Customers 
may choose from one of the following entry/exit points to/
from the transmission system:

◎ �Veľké Kapušany (entry/exit point to/from gas 
transmission system in Ukraine),

◎ �Baumgarten (entry/exit point to/from gas transmission 
system in Austria),

◎ �Lanžhot (entry/exit point to/from gas transmission 
system in Czech Republic),

◎ �Budince (entry/exit point to/from gas transmission 
system in Ukraine),

◎ �Veľké Zlievce (entry/exit point to/from gas transmission 
system in Hungary),

◎ �domestic point (entry/exit point to distribution systems 
and storage facilities in Slovakia).

Eustream facilitates the exchange of gas ownership 
at a virtual trading point operated by the company, both 
between system users with reserved transmission 
capacity and between gas traders.

Eustream’s transmission system

Gas Transmission System

Compressor Station

Delivery Station

Splitting Junction

Underground Storage
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E ustream registered approximately 1500 new 
confirmed transmission capacity reservations 
in 2016. There were nearly 1600 active 
transmission system access and natural gas 

transmission contracts over the same period.

The Eustream transmission system transported a total 
of 60.6 billion cubic metres of natural gas in 2016, 
an amount corresponding to 642.9 TWh. The largest 
proportion of transmission activities, more than 
95 percent, involved international customers, users 
of the transmission system in Slovakia and gas traders 
active in a variety of European countries.

In addition to stable, long-term contracts, the number 
of short-term contracts and cross-border transactions 
between commercial gas hubs in Central Europe and 
contracts related to the liberalisation of the Slovak 
domestic gas market continued to increase.

A regulatory obligation was established in 2016 involving 
the reporting of fundamental and transactional business 
data per Commission Regulation (EC) No. 1227/2011 
on Wholesale Energy Market Integrity and Transparency 
(REMIT) and the Agency for the Cooperation of Energy 
Regulators (ACER). Eustream fulfils its REMIT 
commitments at the required level of quality and 
periodicity.

To satisfy increased interest in transmission capacity 
at the Budince entry/exit point, Eustream increased 
the volume of interruptible capacity at the Budince exit 
point to satisfy increased demand for natural gas from 
Ukrainian customers.

Within future development of the transmission system, 
the company continued in preparations for the planned 
gas connection between Slovakia and Poland connecting 
to the Świnoujście LNG terminal. This new connection 
is primarily intended to diversify routing options and 
natural gas sources, increasing the security of supplies 
and reinforcing the integrated and liquid gas market.

At the end of 2016, Eustream together with the Polish 
transmission system operator Gaz-System submitted 
a grant application for co-financing of the construction 
of the Poland – Slovakia gas pipeline connection using 
the European Commission‘s Connecting Europe Fund 
(CEF).

Eustream also submitted an application seeking 
a European grant to complete a feasibility study for 
the Eastring gas pipeline with support from its partners 
from Hungary, Romania and Bulgaria. The Eastring 
pipeline is intended to connect gas infrastructure 
in Western Europe with South-eastern Europe to 
fundamentally increase the security of commodity 
supplies for the entire region thanks to access to new 
sources of natural gas from different regions. Both 
investment projects have project of common interest (PCI) 
status from the European Union.
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60.6 642.99

46.5 488.53

56.5 587.60

71.4 742.56

2015 2015

2013 2013

2011 2011

2009 2009

2008 2008

2016 2016

2014 2014

2012 2012

2010 2010

55.8 591.13

58.5 614.25

74.0 769.60

66.4 690.56

76.2 792.48

Natural gas transmission  
(in billions  m3)

Natural gas transmission 
(in TWh)
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E ustream invests into new equipment 
and environmental technologies to minimise 
the impacts of transmission system activities 
on the environment and to improve the efficiency 

of natural gas transmission itself. Long-term forecasts 
for natural gas transmission through Slovakia and 
the requirements of environmental protection legislative 
have served as the impetus for the company to complete 
a long-term policy to replace transmission system 
infrastructure, an effort which continued in 2016 as well. 
Investments are focused on replacing obsolete equipment, 
modernising existing units, technical modifications to 
the configuration and settings of the entire transmission 
system to enable to company to flexibly respond to 
changes in demand for natural gas transmission volumes.

Eustream completed projects in 2016 focused 
on developing the transmission system with total 
investment costs of more than €8 million.

Among the most important development-related 
investments this year were:

◎ �gas filtration for HPS Budince,

◎ �construction of the new VPS Ardovo.

The most important project in the engineering process 
was the Poland – Slovakia gas connection pipeline.

A number of development projects are in the works, 
the most important of which in the engineering and review 
phase are:

◎ �expansion of the distribution hub at Lakšárska Nová 
Ves with the installation of natural gas transmission 
equipment,

◎ �Eastring – gas transmission project to connect Central 
and South-eastern Europe.

TRANSMISSION SYSTEM 
DEVELOPMENT
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Research and development
Eustream‘s research and development activities focus 
on the identification and application of new procedures 
and technologies to increase the efficiency of natural gas 
transmission and the security of transmission system 
operations.

Within Operational Programme Research and Innovation, 
Eustream completed a project named Industrial research 
to evaluate the condition of piping systems and related 
infrastructure to ensure flawless long-term operation 
of the transmission system in 2016 in collaboration with 
Slovak University of Technology (STU) in Bratislava; 
the project is a candidate for EU grant funding.

The project is focused on knowledge transfer and 
close collaboration between the private, real-world 
sector, represented by Eustream, and its partner 
from the non-public and non-business sector outside 
of state aid schemes, i.e. STU. Eustream is conducting all 
industrial research activities and the partner is conducting 
independent research activities.

The project is currently in the approval process 
at the Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport 
of the Slovak Republic with implementation planned by 
2022.
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T he EU’s Third Energy Package was transposed into 
Slovak law via the adoption of Act No. 251/2012 
Coll. on Energy and on amendment of certain 
acts (Energy Act) and Act No. 250/2012 Coll. 

on Regulation in Networked Industries (Regulation Act) 
stipulating and regulating business in the energy sector. 
Both of the aforementioned acts contain the requirements 
for unbundling, i.e. the separation of production and 
distribution activities from transmission system 
operations, a process in which Eustream is directly 
involved. The Independent Transmission Operator (ITO) 
model of unbundling has been applied in compliance with 
legislation and decisions issued by the Slovak government.

Certification process
The national regulator reviewed the certification 
proposal from Eustream within the certification process 
to determine if the independence criteria were met 
within the vertically integrated company. The Regulatory 
Office of Networked Industries (Regulatory Office) and 
the European Commission provided their opinions to 
the certification proposal. The Regulatory Office issued 
its final certification decision on 28 October 2013 after 
fulfilment of all the conditions placed on the independent 
transmission system operator. The Regulatory Office then 

notified the Ministry of Economy of the Slovak Republic 
of its decision, which moved to certify Eustream as 
a transmission system operator meeting the requirements 
of European and Slovak legislation.

The Regulatory Office conducts oversight 
of the transmission system operator within permanent 
monitoring of the conditions defined in the certification 
decision and for compliance with defined obligations. 
The Regulatory Office determined that Eustream 
committed no violations in 2016 within its surveillance 
oversight.

Transmission tariffs
The Regulatory Office approves tariffs for accessing 
the transmission system and natural gas transmission 
on the basis of analysis comparing gas transmission 
prices in other EU member states. Tariffs for transmission 
system access and natural gas transmission were 
approved in the Regulatory Office’s Decision 0001/2014/P 
for the 2014 – 2016 regulatory period, amended to 
include the neutralisation fee tariff for transmission 
system balancing on 1 October 2015 in the Regulatory 
Office‘s Decision 0016/2015/P. Tariffs for transmission 
system access and natural gas transmission for 2017 
were approved in the Regulatory Office‘s Decision 
0021/2017/P dated 31 October 2016.

LEGISLATIVE 
COMPLIANCE
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COMPLIANCE PROGRAMME 
REPORT

Per §58 (11)(b) of Act No. 251/2012 Coll. on Energy and on amendment of certain acts, a person must be appointed 
to ensure compliance on the part of the transmission system operator (compliance officer) to monitor fulfilment 
of the program.

Eustream maintained a compliance program in 2016 that primarily concerned:

◎ �activities to ensure the non-discriminatory conduct and independence of the transmission system operator,

◎ �specific obligations of employees and members of management and supervisory bodies of the transmission system 
operator focused on fulfilling the purpose of the compliance program.

The transmission system operator submitted the draft compliance program to the Regulatory Office for approval, which 
approved the program on 18 June 2013 and the program entered into force on the same day. Eustream then took all actions 
needed to ensure adherence to the compliance program and monitoring of its fulfilment.

The transmission system operator provided the compliance officer with the cooperation needed to conduct its rights 
and obligations and ensured that other persons via which the transmission system operator conducts its activities provided 
the same level of cooperation. The compliance officer was given the right to participate in meetings of the board of directors 
as the statutory body of the transmission system operator and meetings of the supervisory commission, meetings of the 
transmission system operator’s general meeting and other bodies of the transmission system operator per the Commercial 
Code, the right to access records and documents involving the activities of the transmission system operator and the ability 
to provide all information needed to fulfil its obligations as the person obliged to ensure compliance as well as access to the 
transmission system operator’s registered office and its facilities without prior notice.

In 2016, the compliance officer:

◎ �did not determine any serious violations of the compliance program on the part of the transmission system operator,

◎ �did not identify any actions by any entities included in the same vertically integrated gas enterprise as the transmission 
system operator or that directly or indirectly exercise control over any entities included in the same vertically integrated 
gas enterprise as the transmission system operator at the general meeting or by a member of the supervisory 
commission at the meetings of the supervisory commission of the transmission system operator that would have 
prevented the transmission system operator from completing investments in the next three years per the ten-year 
system development plan.

Milan Sedláček 
Compliance Officer
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Mr Mareček graduated from the Faculty of Finance 
at University of Economics, Prague. He began his 
professional career in 2004 in the mergers and 
acquisitions department at the J&T Group. He joined 
Kablo Elektro, a.s. in 2004, where he collaborated 
on the restructuring of the company and then worked as 
its CFO. He was involved in the acquisitions of numerous 
companies from 2007 to 2009. He served as the Deputy 
Chair from 2011 and 2013 and has been a member of the 
board of directors of Pražská teplárenská, a.s. since 2013. 
He previously served as a member of the supervisory 
board of EP Industries, a.s. He has been chairman 
of the board of directors at eustream, a.s. since 24 January 
2013.

Mr Hančák graduated from the University of Economics 
in Bratislava and completed his post-graduate studies 
at the Faculty of Law at Comenius University. His 
professional career begin in 1993 at the Bratislava IV 
Tax Office. His experience includes various managerial 
positions in commercial companies including Merimex 
Int., s.r.o. (1995), RENTA g.i.a.s. (1995 – 1997), J&T Real 
Estate, a.s. (1997 – 2006). He held the post of General 
Director of the Economy Section at the Ministry of Interior 
of the Slovak Republic from 2006 to 2010. He was 
responsible for managing contractual matters for large 
road construction projects at Strabag from 2011 to 2012. 
He has been the deputy chairman of the board of directors 
at eustream, a.s. since 20 September 2012.

Tomáš Mareček
chairman of the board of directors

Robert Hančák 
vice-chairman of the board of directors

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The structure presented dates to 31 December 2016. The board of directors did not undergo any changes in 2016. 
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Mr Bodnár graduated from the Faculty of International 
Relations at University of Economics, Prague. After a short 
stint in the banking sector, he joined the EPH Group in 2009 
in the mergers and acquisitions department, where he 
specialised in the identification and evaluation of acquisition 
projects in the energy sector. He joined Eustream in March 
2013 as a member of the supervisory board and supervisory 
commission. He remained in these positions until 22 May 2014. 
He was named director of strategy at Eustream in June 2013. 
He serves as Eustream’s representative in the supervisory 

board of Central European Gas Hub (a natural gas trading platform for Central and Eastern Europe). He has been 
a member of the board of directors at eustream, a.s. since 13 June 2014. He became a member of the board of directors 
of the European network of transmission system operators for gas (ENTSOG) in September 2014.

Mr Peteraj began his university studies at the Vienna 
University of Economics and Business, continuing his education 
at the Faculty of Management at Comenius University and 
the Bratislava College of Law. He worked as an interpreter and 
translator in the 1990s and served as the English interpreter 
for the Slovak president from 2001 to 2012. During his 
career, he served as the executive officer and managing 
director at Entrans s.r.o. (2003 to 2013) and KL Consult s.r.o. 
(2006 to 2013). He became an adviser to the State Secretary 
at the Ministry of Environment of the Slovak Republic in 2013. 
He has been a member of the board of directors at eustream, 
a.s. since 26 August 2014.

Mr Topolánek is a graduate of the Faculty of Mechanical 
Engineering at Brno University of Technology. He began his 
professional career as the chief designer in the automation 
and mechanisation department at OKD Ostrava, later working 
as a specialist in instrumentation and control systems 
at Energoprojekt Prague.
He served as the executive director at VAE, a.s. (an EPC provider 
in the energy sector) from 1991 to 2003 and later as chairman 
of the board of directors.
He began his political career as a member of the Czech 

parliament in 1996. He served as Prime Minister of the Czech Republic from 2006 to 2009 and President of the European 
Council in 2009. He actively engaged in resolving the gas crisis that occurred in the same year and was one of the organisers 
of the 1st summit on the southern gas corridor.
His focus has been on the energy and education sectors since leaving top-level politics. He was elected chairman 
of the Heating Industry Association of the Czech Republic in 2011. He has served as the chairman of the supervisory board 
at Elektrárny Opatovice, a.s. since 2011. He was the director for development and foreign relations at NAFTA a. s., Bratislava 
from 2013 to 2014. He joined Eustream on 1 November 2014 as the Director for Foreign Development and Relations with 
Public Institutions. He has been a member of the board of directors at eustream, a.s. since 11 August 2015.

Miroslav Bodnár 
member of the board of directors

Kamil Peteraj
member of the board of directors

Mirek Topolánek 
member of the board of directors
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SUPERVISORY BOARD

The structure presented dates to 31 December 2016. The supervisory board underwent changes in 2016 as a result 
of voting that took place on 14 - 15 November 2016. Andrej Lendvay and Mikuláš Maník were added to the supervisory 

board as newly-elected members.

Peter Trgiňa 
chairman of the supervisory board

Daniel Křetínský
deputy chairman of the supervisory board

Otto Halás
member of the supervisory board

Andrej Lendvay
member of the supervisory board

Mikuláš Maník
member of the supervisory board

Viera Peťková
member of the supervisory board

16



SUPERVISORY COMMISSION

The structure presented dates to 31 December 2016. 
The supervisory commission did not undergo any changes in 2016. 

Daniel Křetínský
chairman of the supervisory commission

Ružena Lovasová
deputy chairwoman of the supervisory commission

Hana Krejčí
member of the supervisory commission

Roman Karlubík
member of the supervisory commission

Jan Stříteský
member of the supervisory commission
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Mr Ňukovič graduated from the Faculty of Electrical 
Engineering and Information Technology at Slovak 
University of Technology in Bratislava. He completed 
his post-graduate studies focused on the gas industry 
from 2000 to 2002 at the Faculty of Environmental 
Technology at University of Chemistry and Technology, 
Prague. He began his career in the gas industry 
in 1998 at SPP in the Slovtransgaz divisions as an 
IT systems administrator in Senica, later becoming 
manager of the installation and technical support 
department. He worked as director of the centralised 
maintenance department from 2005 to 2008 and 
managed the department of strategic projects for the 
subsequent four years. He took up the position of director 
of the newly-established asset management unit at 
the beginning of 2012. He has been CEO at eustream, 
a.s. since 1 July 2014. He served as the Vice President 
of the Slovak Gas and Oil Association from October 2015 
to October 2016, which he represents in the executive 
committee of Marcogaz (Technical Association 
of the European Natural Gas Industry).

Rastislav Ňukovič 
General Director

MANAGEMENT

	 Miroslav Bodnár	 Strategy
	 Peter Pčola	 Commercial and Regulatory Management
	 Peter Pčola	 Economics and Finance
	 Mirek Topolánek	 International Development and Public Affairs
	 Petr Krafka	 Corporate Affairs
	 Peter Tóth	 Asset Management
	 Ján Janus	 Dispatching
	 Anton Zelenaj	 Compressor Technology
	 Vladimír Potočný	 Pipeline System Repair and Maintenance
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The structure presented dates to 31 December 2016.  
The new organisational structure has been in place since 9 December 2016. The following organisational change was made 

during 2016: a new organisational unit for EU affairs and strategy was established.

Organisational structure

Chairman 
of the Board 
of Directors

Strategy
Commercial 

and Regulatory 
Management

Economics 
and Finance

International 
Developm. and 
Public Affairs

Corporate 
Affairs

Asset 
Management Dispatching Compressors 

Technology

Maintenance  
and Repairs  
of Pipeline 
Systems

Internal 
Auditor

Compliance 
Officer

Risk Managm.
and Internal  

Audit

EU affairs 
and strategy

Balancing
Management

General 
Director

Vice-Chairman 
of the Board 
of Directors

Member 
of the Board 
of Directors

Member 
of the Board 
of Directors

Member 
of the Board 
of Directors
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H uman resources management at Eustream 
focused primarily in 2016 on the implementation 
of the Efficiency project, which focused 
on improving the competitiveness 

of the company and streamlining internal operations. 
In the area of collective bargaining, a reduction 
in staffing levels and the reorganisation of several 
organisational units occurred at the end of 2016 within 
the implementation of this project.

Employee education and development

Eustream focused in 2016 on rolling out a number 
of development projects within employee education 
and development activities:

◎ �graduate program – a program focused on graduates 
with 0 to 2 years of experience after graduating from 
university,

◎ �talent pool – a program focused on the company‘s 
employees for succession assurance purposes,

◎ �Erasmus program – a program specifically for students 
at foreign universities to participate in professional 
internships at our company with students receiving 
a financial scholarship from the Erasmus program.

Assessment, remuneration and motivation

Eustream’s remuneration system has clear, fair and 
motivating rules. Remuneration is closely tied to employee 
performance assessment. The assessment, remuneration 

and motivation program did not change significantly in 
2016. The company focused on streamlining the entire 
employee remuneration process through the use and 
further development of an electronic application.

Social care

The employee benefits program did not undergo 
significant changes in 2016 and Eustream provided 
employees with the same level of compensation as 
in previous years. The employer continued to use all 
available forms of assistance if any of its employees 
found themselves in situations with a detrimental impact 
on their personal lives or their families.

Communication

Eustream’s primary goal within internal communication is 
to provide employees and Slovak Gas Trade Union (POZ) 
representatives with information on important changes 
in an accurate, timely and transparent manner.

Eustream continued the tradition of meetings between 
the representatives of Eustream as the employer 
and POZ in 2016, which served as an opportunity 
to communicate all of the important events and prepared 
changes with an impact on employees and their working 
conditions.

Employees have direct access to the latest information 
concerning the company, all open jobs and impeding 
organisational changes through the Intranet and 
an internal newsletter.

HUMAN RESOURCES
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Eustream had a total of 707 employees as 
of 31 December 2016, 115 of whom were women 
(16.3% of the total). As a result of the organisational 
changes implemented at the end of 2016, the proportion 
of employees with university-level education slightly 
increased (48.23%) and the proportion of employees under 
the age of 50 slightly decreased.

Structure of employees

Structure of qualifications at 31 December 2016

Age structure at 31 December 2016

30 and below 	 31 employees 	   (4.4 %)

31 to 40 	 125 employees 	(17.7 %)

41 to 50 	 249 employees 	(35.2 %)

51+ 	 302 employees 	(42.7 %)

Vocational education 	 102 employees 	(14.43 %)

Secondary education 	 264 employees 	(37.34 %)

University-level education 	 341 employees 	(48.23 %)
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Eustream’s primary areas of focus within environmental 
protection include:

◎ �compliance with the waste management hierarchy to 
reduce the amount of waste generated,

◎ �optimising water management,
◎ �reducing emissions and environmental pollutants,
◎ �decreasing the level of noise emitted around 

compressor stations.
Eustream works to ensure any negative environmental 
impacts of operations are minimised. The company 
modernises its equipment and strives to use the best 
available technologies.

Waste management

Eustream’s waste management is geared towards 
minimising the negative health and environmental 
impacts of waste generation and management, to reduce 
the usage of resources and to prioritise the practical 
implementation of the waste management hierarchy 
(defined in Act No. 79/2015 Coll. on Wastes and 
on amendment of certain acts:

◎ �prevention,
◎ �preparation for reuse,
◎ �recycling,
◎ �other recovery or energy recovery,
◎ �disposal.

Air protection

Eustream operates stationary combustion installations 
that produce greenhouse gas emissions and pollutants 
when operating. Continuous care for the quality of these 
installations is the company’s way of ensuring compliance 
with ever stricter legislation involving air protection. 
The company is actively involved in monitoring and 
evaluation and reducing methane emissions.

An important air protection project was the modification 
of the Nuovo Pignone gas turbines to use Dry Low 
Emissions (DLE) technology to comply with Directive 
of the European Parliament and of the Council 
No. 2010/75/EU on Industrial Emissions.

The overall quantity of emissions released into 
the atmosphere are reduced as a result of differences 
in the volumes of natural gas transmissions. Emissions 
from combustion installations with rated thermal input 
of more than 50 MW are monitored continuously by 
automated monitoring systems.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
AND OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH 
AND SAFETY
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Outdoor noise protection

Noise and vibration are produced during natural gas 
transmission, the operation of combustion installations 
at compressor stations and related equipment in pipeline 
yards. Eustream regularly monitors noise emitted 
by compressor stations to keep noise and vibration levels 
below the level stipulated in legislation. Noise levels were 
decreased significantly by modifying operating conditions 
and transitioning to modern technical equipment.

State authorities conducted audits in 2016 concerning 
compliance with the Act on Integrated Prevention 
and Monitoring of Environmental Pollution. The company 
also conducted internal checks and audits last year 
focused on review of compliance with environmental 
protection legislation. All discrepancies and deficiencies 
identified in such activities were resolved.

Occupational health and safety

Eustream assures occupational health and safety per 
relevant legislative and internal regulations to eliminate 
or mitigate all employee safety risks to the greatest 
possible extent and to protect their health at work.

Various health-related programs are conducted 
throughout the year within the employee health 
prevention program and occupational rehabilitation 

services are also provided. Eustream applies an active OHS 
policy focused on employees, suppliers and all business 
partners involved in the organisation‘s activities.

A functional OHS management system is deployed 
at Eustream. Audits conducted by the Labour Inspectorate 
and surveillance conducted by regional public health 
authorities, fire safety audits and an external surveillance 
audit connected with the integrated management system 
conducted at the end of 2016 assured compliance with 
OHS regulations and legislation.

In collaboration with the occupational health service, 
individual workplaces are subject to monitoring of 
conditions and working environment impacts on the 
health and safety of employees. Employees regularly 
complete occupational health-related preventative 
medicals. The scope of such medicals is determined based 
on the risk factors that employees are exposed to in their 
work. No registered workplace injuries were recorded 
during calendar year 2016. Preventative actions and 
specific programs are conducted to improve working 
conditions, eliminate risks and factors conditioning 
workplace injuries, occupational disease and other health 
damage.

The company conducts financial and other activities 
to create and maintain suitable employment conditions, 
working conditions and especially conditions for OHS 
assurance.

Accident rate

Indicator 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Number of registered workplace injuries 0 1 1 1 2 1

Of which, serious workplace injuries 0 0 0 0 0 1
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E ustream generated revenues from sale 
of services of €760.59 million in 2016, 
a decrease of €15.78 million compared 
to the previous year. Changes in the volumes 

of contracted transmission capacity as a source 
of revenues were the primary reason for this 
decrease. A total of €225.84 million was reported 
in operating costs in 2016. Major cost items in 2016 
included depreciation, costs of services, consumption 
of natural gas, materials and energy and personnel 
costs. Financial activities in 2016 generated a loss 
of €39.95 million, primarily as a result of interest costs.

Under International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, Eustream 
reported a profit before tax of €494.80 million in 2016, 
representing a €65.01 million decrease compared 
to 2015. Income tax on ordinary activities was 
€107.37 million with profit after tax of €387.43 million.

ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE

Comparison of revenues, costs and profit (€ million)

2016 2015

Revenues from sale of services 760.59 776.37

Operating costs (225.84) (186.70)

(Costs)/revenues from financing (39.95) (29.86)

Profit before tax 494.80 559.81

Income tax (107.37) (141.54)

Profit for the year 387.43 418.27
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E ustream’s total assets as at the balance sheet 
date were €4,997.34 million, increasing by 
€1,923 million compared to the previous year, 
primarily as a result of a revaluation of assets 

related to the transmission of natural gas. Fixed assets 
were reported in a total amount of €4,405.80 million, 
accounting for 88% of total assets. Their value increased 
primarily due to the revaluation mentioned above. 
Current assets included accounts receivable, cash 
and cash equivalents and inventories and accounted 
for 12% of total assets. Compared to the previous year, 
current assets increased by €9.27 million, primarily 
as a result of an increase in cash and cash equivalents.

Equity totalled €2,609.77 million, or 52% of the value 
of the company’s assets. Equity included capital stock 
as well as the statutory reserve fund, other funds, 
revaluation reserve and retained earnings. Equity 
increased by €1,504.44 million year-on-year, primarily 
as a result of a revaluation of assets mentioned above.

Company capital stock registered in the Commercial 
Register was €282.93 million. This total includes 
ten ordinary registered shares with a nominal value 
of €3,319.39, one ordinary registered share with a nominal 
value of €82,895,533.19 and one ordinary registered 
share with a nominal value of €200,000,000.00.

CAPITAL  
STRUCTURE

Comparison of the structure of assets (€ million)

4 405.80
88 %

2 492.07
81 %

591.54
12 % 582.27

19 % 

2016 2015

Fixed 			   Current 
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The company’s statutory reserve fund as at the balance 
sheet date was €56.59 million.

Total liabilities accounted for 48% of assets and totalled 
€2,387.57 million as at the balance sheet date. Liabilities 
included €2,298.96 million in long-term liabilities 
and €88.61 million in current liabilities. Liabilities 
increased by €418.56 million over the previous year. 
This is primarily due to accounting of the deferred tax 
liability on the revaluation of assets.

Comparison of the structure of equity and liabilities (€ million)

2016 2015 2016 2015

Equity 2 609.77 1 105.33 52 % 36 %

Liabilities 2 387.57 1 969.01 48 % 64 %

SPP Infrastructure, a. s. 12 shares 100 %

CA
PI

TA
L 

ST
RU

CT
UR

E

Structure of shareholders at 31 December 2016:
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BALANCE SHEET 
(selected details, € thousands)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ASSETS:

31 December  2016 31 December  2015

FIXED ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 4 393 147 2 295 226

Fixed intangible assets 4 389 5 023

Long-term financial investments 6 607 6 607

Provided long-term loans 25 183 578

Other fixed assets 1 634 1 634

Fixed assets, total 4 405 802 2 492 068

CURRENT ASSETS 591 538 582 271

ASSETS, TOTAL 4 997 340 3 074 339

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES:

EQUITY

Capital stock 282 929 282 929

Statutory and other funds 59 730 108 965

Revaluation reserve 1 615 827 -

Retained earnings 651 285 713 437

Equity, total 2 609 771 1 105 331

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 2 298 955 1 779 979

CURRENT LIABILITIES 88 614 189 029

Liabilities, total 2 387 569 1 969 008

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES, TOTAL 4 997 340 3 074 339

27

An
nu

al
 re

po
rt

 2
01

6



FI
N

AN
CI

AL
 R

EP
OR

TS

INCOME STATEMENT   
(selected details, € thousands)

Year ending
31 December 2016

Year ending
31 December 2015

REVENUES FROM SALES OF SERVICES 760 589 776 369

OPERATING COSTS (225 840) (186 700)

OPERATING PROFIT 534 749 589 669
Financial revenues 5 460 13 338
Financial expenses (45 411) (43 199)
Profit before tax 494 798 559 808

INCOME TAX (107 370) (141 538)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 387 428 418 270
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT    
(selected details, € thousands)

Year ending 
31 December 2016 

Year ending 
31 December 2015 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash flow from operating activities 274 685 351 328

Interests paid (44 726) (30 983)
Received interests 409 1 073
Income tax paid (161 023) (131 801)
Cash flow from operating activities, net 69 345 189 617

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of fixed assets (15 077) (11 979)

Repayment of provided loans 39 453 -
Acquisition of financial investments - (7)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets 61 205

Received dividends 712 675
Cash flow used in investment activities,  
net 25 149 (11 106)

FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issued bonds - 492 660

Revenues (repayments) from received loans (80 000) 80 000
Paid dividends (13) (852 017)
Cash flow from financial activities, net (80 013) (279 357)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN BALANCE 
OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 14 481 (100 846)

NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE DIFFERENCE (633) (48)

BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 90 421 191 315

BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 104 269 90 421
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Since the last day of the reporting period for which this Annual Report is compiled, the following significant events occurred 
that should be noted:

- �The members of the Board of Directors were changed on 8 February 2017. Mr. Kamil Peteraj was replaced by 
Ms. Eva Markovičová on the Board of Directors.

- �The members of the Supervisory Board were changed: effective 20 March 2017, member of the Supervisory Board, 
Mr. Daniel Křetínský, was dismissed and replaced by Mr. Jiří Zrůst (effective 21 March 2017).

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
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Commercial name:	 eustream, a.s.
Registered office: 	 Votrubova 11/A, 821 09 Bratislava, Slovak Republic

Tel.:	 +421 2 6250 7111
Fax:	 +421 2 6250 7051
E-mail:	 info@eustream.sk

Legal form:	 joint stock company
Registered in the Companies Register:	 District Court of Bratislava I, section Sa, entry ref. no. 3480/B

Identification and tax details:	 Company reg. no.: 35910712
	 Tax reg. no.: 2021931175
	 VAT reg. no.: SK2021931175

CONTACT
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INCOME STATEMENT 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 
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Note 

Year ended  
31 December 

2016  

Year ended  
31 December 

2015 
     
REVENUES FROM SALE OF SERVICES      
Natural gas transmission and other 20 760,589  776,369 
Total revenues  760,589  776,369 
     
OPERATING COSTS     
Own work capitalized   1,337  2,332 
Consumption of natural gas, consumables and services  (30,867)  (32,373) 
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses, net 7, 8 (143,082)  (97,811) 
Other services  (24,937)  (24,310) 
Personnel expenses 21 (32,121)  (32,282) 
Provision for bad and doubtful debts, obsolete and slow-
moving inventory, net 10, 11 (376)  (3,602) 

Provisions  7, 8, 15 91  (91) 
Other operating income  5,897  3,966 
Other operating expenses   (1,782)  (2,529) 
Total operating costs  (225,840)  (186,700) 
     
OPERATING PROFIT  534,749  589,669 
     
Financial income 23 5,460  13,338 
Financial expense  24 (45,411)  (43,199) 
Profit before taxation  494,798  559,808 
     
INCOME TAX 26.1 (107,370)  (141,538) 
NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  387,428  418,270 
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Note 

Year ended  
31 December 

2016  

Year ended  
31 December 

2015 
     
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  387,428  418,270 
     
Other comprehensive income (items that may be 
reclassified subsequently to income statement): 27    
Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges  (63,173)  52,889 
Deferred tax relating to components of other comprehensive 
income/loss for the period  13,938  (11,636) 
     
Other comprehensive income (items that won´t be 
reclassified subsequently to income statement):     
Increase of reserve from revaluation of assets 27 2,229,355  - 
Decrease of reserve from revaluation due to changes in fair 
value  (2)  - 
Deferred tax relating to items of other comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the period  (563,106)  - 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE 
PERIOD  1,617,012  41,253 
     
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  2,004,440  459,523 
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Registered 
capital  

Legal 
reserve 

fund  Hedge reserve  
Revaluation 

reserve 

 
Retained 
earnings  Total 

              
Balance at 31 
December 2014  

 
282,929  56,586  11,126  - 

 
1,695,167  2,045,808 

              
Net profit for the period   -  -  -  -  418,270  418,270 
Other comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the 
period  

 

-  -  41,253  - 

 

-  41,253 
Total net 
comprehensive 
income for the period  

 

-  -  41,253  - 

 

418,270  459,523 
Transactions with 
shareholders:  

 
       

 
   

Dividends paid   -  -  -  -  (1,400,000)  (1,400,000) 
Balance at 31 
December 2015  

 
282,929  56,586  52,379  - 

 
713,437  1,105,331 

              
Net profit for the period   -  -  -  -  387,428  387,428 
Other comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the 
period  

 

-  -  (49,275)  1,644,600 

 

-  1,595,325 
Effect of changes in 
deferred tax rate  

 
-  -  40  21,647 

 
-  21,687 

Transfer to retained 
earnings  

 
      (50,420) 

 
50,420  - 

Total net 
comprehensive 
income for the period  

 

-  -  (49,235)  1,615,827 

 

437,848  2,004,440 
Transactions with 
shareholders:  

 
       

 
   

Dividends paid   -  -  -  -  (500,000)  (500,000) 
Balance at 31 
December 2016  

 
282,929  56,586  3,144  1,615,827 

 
651,285  2,609,771 
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Note 

Year ended 
31 December 

2016 
 

Year ended 
31 December 

2015 
     
OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Cash flows from operating activities 28 274,685  351,328 
Interest paid  (44,726)  (30,983) 
Interest received  409  1,073 
Income tax paid   (161,023)  (131,801) 
Net cash flows from operating activities  69,345  189,617 
     
INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (15,077)  (11,979) 
Repayment of borrowings   39,453  - 
Acquisition of financial investments  -  (7) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets  61  205 
Dividends received  712  675 
Net cash used in investing activities  25,149  (11,106) 
     
FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
Proceeds from bonds issued  -  492,660 
Proceeds (payments) from loans received  (80,000)  80,000 
Dividends paid 9,11,19  (13)  (852,017) 
Net cash flow from financing activities  (80,013)  (279,357) 
     
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  14,481  (100,846) 

     
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES  (633)  (48) 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD  90,421  191,315 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
THE PERIOD  104,269  90,421 
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1. DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY 
 
1.1. General information 
 
In accordance with Act No. 431/2002 Coll, on Accounting and later amendments, eustream, a.s., 
(“eustream“ or “the Company“) has prepared these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union (EU). 
 
This version of the financial statements is a translation from the original, which was prepared in 
Slovak, and all due care has been taken to ensure that it is an accurate representation. However, in 
interpreting information, views or opinions, the original language version of the financial statements 
takes precedence. 
 
The Company was established by a Memorandum of Association on 26 November 2004 and 
incorporated in the Commercial Register on 10 December 2004 under the business name SPP - 
preprava, a.s. Based on a change to the Commercial Register as at 3 January 2008, the Company 
SPP – preprava a.s. changed its legal name to eustream, a.s. Slovenský plynárenský priemysel, a.s. 
(SPP) was the 100% owner of the Company until 12 June 2014. 
 
On 19 December 2013 the National Property Fund of the Slovak Republic (NPF), the Ministry of 
Economy of the Slovak Republic and Energetický a Průmyslový Holding, a.s. (EPH) signed a 
framework contract for the sale and acquisition of shares, which concerned means of reorganization of 
SPP Group that took place in the first half of 2014. The framework contract included the contribution of 
shares of SPP in SPP – distribúcia, a.s., eustream, a.s., NAFTA a.s., SPP Infrastructure Financing B.V, 
SPP Bohemia, a.s., SPP Storage, s.r.o., Pozagas, a.s., GEOTERM Košice, a.s., Probugas, a.s., 
SLOVGEOTERM, a.s. GALANTATERM, spol. s.r.o. into a newly 100% subsidiary, SPP Infrastructure, 
a.s. (“SPP Infrastructure“). After completion of this reorganization, the Slovak Republic represented by 
the Ministry of Economy became the ultimate owner of SPP, while SPP retained a non-controlling 51% 
ownership share in SPP Infrastructure. 
 
SPP Infrastructure has been the 100% owner of the Company since 13 June 2014. 
 
On 1 July 2006, SPP made a contribution to the Company of a part of the business including assets 
and liabilities of the former transmission division (but excluding the main assets for natural gas 
transmission). At the same time, SPP started to lease to the Company the main assets for natural gas 
transmission (gas transmission pipelines, compressor stations) under an operating lease contract. 
Since 1 July 2006, the Company has assumed the operations related to natural gas transmission.  
 
On 28 February 2013, SPP made a contribution to the Company of a part of the business, which was 
assumed to be a business combination under common control, including the assets (especially natural 
gas transmission assets - gas transmission pipelines, compressor stations), related liabilities and 
employees. The lease of main assets used for the natural gas transmission terminated as at that date.  
 
On 22 June 2016, the Annual General Meeting approved the Company's 2015 financial statements. 
 
Identification Number (IČO) 35 910 712 

Tax Identification Number (DIČ) 2021931175 
 
 
1.2. Principal activities 
 
Since 1 July 2006, following the legal unbundling, the Company assumed the operations related to 
natural gas transmission. 
 
 
 
 
 

eustream, a.s. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(€ '000) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
THIS IS A TRANSLATION OF THE ORIGINAL SLOVAK DOCUMENT. 7 

 
Liberalization of the Slovak energy sector  
 
Regulatory framework of the Slovak natural gas market 
 
On the basis of current energy legislation, the natural gas market in the Slovak Republic is fully 
liberalized, allowing all customers to freely select a natural gas supplier. The Company, as the 
operator, is obliged to provide free and non-discriminatory access to the transmission network on the 
defined territory (territory of the Slovak Republic) to every user fulfilling commercial and technical 
conditions for gas transmission. The Company’s activities are subject to regulation from the 
Regulatory Office of Network Industries (RONI). RONI, inter alia, establishes the regulatory policy for 
individual periods, monitors compliance of corporate activities with existing energy legislation and its 
decrees, and issues decisions on tariff determination for access to the transmission network and gas 
transmission. 
 
Tariffs for regulated activities 
 
Every year, RONI approves tariffs for access to the transmission network and natural gas 
transmission. These tariffs are determined based on an analysis of gas transmission price 
benchmarking in the other EU Member States. The tariffs for the regulated period 2014-2016 were 
approved by RONI Ruling 0001/2014/P and subsequently, on 1 October 2015 according to RONI 
Decision 0016/2015/P, neutralizing tariff charges were added to balance the transmission system. 
Tariffs for access to the transmission network and natural gas transmission for the next period of 2017 
were approved on 31 October 2016 by RONI Decision 0021/2017/P. 
 
Changes in regulatory laws and policy 
 
The principle legislation is the Act on Regulation in Network Industries, published in the Collection of 
Laws under no. 250/2012 Coll. and also the Energy Act no. 251/2012 Coll. as amended (“the Acts on 
energy and regulation"). The main changes to lower legal standards include the RONI Decision 
0002/2016/P-PP of 3 February 2016 and RONI Decision 0005/2016/P-PP of 14 September 2016. The 
main changes to higher legal standards include the RONI Decree No. 223/2016 Coll. of 19 July 2016 
establishing a price regulation in the gas industry and RONI Decree No. 371/2016 Coll. of 28 
December 2016 changing and amending RONI Decree No. 24/2013 Coll., establishing the rules for 
the functioning of the internal electricity market and the internal gas market. 
 
The third energy package of EU and the certification of the transmission system operator 
 
In 2009, the EU endorsed Directive No. 2009/73/EC and related regulations concerning common rules 
for the internal market in natural gas, the so-called EU Third Energy Package. The EU Third Energy 
Package was transposed into Slovak law in 2012 through the Acts on Energy and Regulation. Even 
though the new Energy Act established a model of ownership, unbundling the transmission system 
operator as the base model, the Act left the possibility of the Slovak Government deciding to apply the 
Independent Transmission Operator (ITO) model and not the model of ownership unbundling. At its 
meeting on 28 November 2012, the Slovak Government decided, in Resolution No. 656/2012, that the 
model of ownership unbundling the transmission system operator would not apply. Based on the 
above, eustream has complied with the conditions for unbundling the transmission system operator. 
 
On 28 October 2013, RONI issued its consent to granting eustream certification as the transmission 
system operator. Subsequently, on 22 November 2013, the Ministry of Economy of the Slovak 
Republic issued decision 1795/2013-1000, which  confirmed eustream as the transmission 
system operator, meeting the conditions of separation for independent transmission system operator 
as stipulated by § 51- 60 of the Energy Act. 
 
1.3. Employees 
 
The average headcount of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016 was 731. The number 
of employees as at 31 December 2015 was 707, including 12 representatives of the key management 
personnel (for the year ended 31 December 2015, the average headcount was 748, and the number 
of employees as at 31 December 2014 was 748 including 12 representatives of the key management 
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Liberalization of the Slovak energy sector  
 
Regulatory framework of the Slovak natural gas market 
 
On the basis of current energy legislation, the natural gas market in the Slovak Republic is fully 
liberalized, allowing all customers to freely select a natural gas supplier. The Company, as the 
operator, is obliged to provide free and non-discriminatory access to the transmission network on the 
defined territory (territory of the Slovak Republic) to every user fulfilling commercial and technical 
conditions for gas transmission. The Company’s activities are subject to regulation from the 
Regulatory Office of Network Industries (RONI). RONI, inter alia, establishes the regulatory policy for 
individual periods, monitors compliance of corporate activities with existing energy legislation and its 
decrees, and issues decisions on tariff determination for access to the transmission network and gas 
transmission. 
 
Tariffs for regulated activities 
 
Every year, RONI approves tariffs for access to the transmission network and natural gas 
transmission. These tariffs are determined based on an analysis of gas transmission price 
benchmarking in the other EU Member States. The tariffs for the regulated period 2014-2016 were 
approved by RONI Ruling 0001/2014/P and subsequently, on 1 October 2015 according to RONI 
Decision 0016/2015/P, neutralizing tariff charges were added to balance the transmission system. 
Tariffs for access to the transmission network and natural gas transmission for the next period of 2017 
were approved on 31 October 2016 by RONI Decision 0021/2017/P. 
 
Changes in regulatory laws and policy 
 
The principle legislation is the Act on Regulation in Network Industries, published in the Collection of 
Laws under no. 250/2012 Coll. and also the Energy Act no. 251/2012 Coll. as amended (“the Acts on 
energy and regulation"). The main changes to lower legal standards include the RONI Decision 
0002/2016/P-PP of 3 February 2016 and RONI Decision 0005/2016/P-PP of 14 September 2016. The 
main changes to higher legal standards include the RONI Decree No. 223/2016 Coll. of 19 July 2016 
establishing a price regulation in the gas industry and RONI Decree No. 371/2016 Coll. of 28 
December 2016 changing and amending RONI Decree No. 24/2013 Coll., establishing the rules for 
the functioning of the internal electricity market and the internal gas market. 
 
The third energy package of EU and the certification of the transmission system operator 
 
In 2009, the EU endorsed Directive No. 2009/73/EC and related regulations concerning common rules 
for the internal market in natural gas, the so-called EU Third Energy Package. The EU Third Energy 
Package was transposed into Slovak law in 2012 through the Acts on Energy and Regulation. Even 
though the new Energy Act established a model of ownership, unbundling the transmission system 
operator as the base model, the Act left the possibility of the Slovak Government deciding to apply the 
Independent Transmission Operator (ITO) model and not the model of ownership unbundling. At its 
meeting on 28 November 2012, the Slovak Government decided, in Resolution No. 656/2012, that the 
model of ownership unbundling the transmission system operator would not apply. Based on the 
above, eustream has complied with the conditions for unbundling the transmission system operator. 
 
On 28 October 2013, RONI issued its consent to granting eustream certification as the transmission 
system operator. Subsequently, on 22 November 2013, the Ministry of Economy of the Slovak 
Republic issued decision 1795/2013-1000, which  confirmed eustream as the transmission 
system operator, meeting the conditions of separation for independent transmission system operator 
as stipulated by § 51- 60 of the Energy Act. 
 
1.3. Employees 
 
The average headcount of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016 was 731. The number 
of employees as at 31 December 2015 was 707, including 12 representatives of the key management 
personnel (for the year ended 31 December 2015, the average headcount was 748, and the number 
of employees as at 31 December 2014 was 748 including 12 representatives of the key management 
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personnel). Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Supervisory Board and managers 
under the direct line of command of the statutory body or a member of the statutory body are 
considered to be representatives of the key management personnel. 
 
 
1.4. Registered address 
 
Votrubova 11/A 
821 09 Bratislava 
Slovak Republic 
 
 
1.5. Information on the consolidated group 
 
The Company is a subsidiary of SPP Infrastructure, which has its registered office at Mlynské nivy 
44/a, Bratislava, and holds a 100% share in the Company's registered capital.  
 
The Company is included in the consolidated financial statements of a higher level company within the 
EU. Those consolidated financial statements are prepared by SPP Infrastructure, in accordance with 
IFRS, as adopted by the EU.  
 
The  financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of SPP 
Infrastructure are deposited with the Commercial Register of Bratislava I District Court, Záhradnícka 
10, 811 07 Bratislava. Financial statements are published in the Register of Financial Statements and 
at www.eustream.sk.  
 
Since 24 January 2013, Energetický a Průmyslový Holding, a.s. has been the highest reporting entity 
that consolidates eustream. EPH is the ultimate controlling party. 
 
 
2. NEW INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND CHANGES IN 

ESTIMATES 
 
2.1. Adoption of new and revised IFRS 
 
The Company has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that have been endorsed for use in the EU and that are 
relevant to its operations and effective for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2016. The 
following standards, amendments and improvements issued by the IASB and adopted by the EU are 
effective for the current accounting period:  
 

• IAS 19 Employee Benefits - Amendment to IAS 19  - effective for financial years beginning on 
or after 1 January 2016 

• IAS 16 and IAS 38 — Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization - 
Amendment to IAS 16 and IAS 38 - effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 
January 2016 

• IAS 1 Disclosure initiative - Amendment to IAS 1- effective for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016 

• Improvements to IFRS Project Cycle 2010 – 2012 - effective for financial years beginning on 
or after 1 February 2015 

o IFRS 2 Share-based Payment - The definition of "vesting condition" 
o IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Accounting for possible consideration in a business 

combination 
o IFRS 8 Operating Segments - Aggregation of operating segments 
o IFRS 8 Operating Segments - Reconciliation of assets of reportable segments to the 

entity's assets 
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o IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets - Method of 
revaluation - proportional calculation of accumulated depreciation 

o IAS 24 Related party disclosures - Key management 
o IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Scope exemption for joint ventures 
o IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement - Scope of Section 52 (portfolio exceptions) 

 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that were published and 
are effective during 2016 and have no impact on the financial statements of the Company: 
 
• IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Application of Consolidation Exceptions 

Amendment to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 - effective for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016 

• IFRS 11 — Joint Arrangements - Amendment to IFRS 11- effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016 

• IAS 16 and IAS 41 Fruiting Plants - Amendment to IAS 16 and IAS 41 - effective for financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2016 

• IAS 27 — Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements - Amendment to IAS 27 - effective 
for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2016 

• Improvements to IFRS Project Cycle 2012 – 2014 - effective for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016 

o IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in 
the methods of disposal 

o IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Service Contracts 
o IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Applicability of additional disclosure to 

condensed interim financial statements 
o IAS 19 Employee Benefits - Discount rates 
o IAS 34 — Interim Financial Reporting – Disclosures of information "elsewhere in the 

interim financial statements" 
 

International standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that have 
been published and are not effective yet 

 
• IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments - effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 

2018; 
• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - effective for financial years beginning  

on or after 1 January 2018; 
• IFRS 16 Leases - effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2019 
• IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative - Amendment to IAS - effective for financial years beginning  

on or after 1 January 2017; 
• IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets of Unrealized Losses - Amendment to IAS 12 

effective for financial years beginning  on or after 1 January 2017; 
• IFRS 2 Classification and Valuation of Share-based Payment - Amendment to IFRS 2 – 

effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018; 
• The application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – 

Amendment to IFRS 4 - effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018; 
• Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale of assets or investment in associates and joint 

ventures - amendments have not yet been approved by the EU; 
• IAS 40: Investment Property (Amendments) - effective for financial years beginning  

on or after 1 January 2018; 
• IFRIC 22 — Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration – interpretation have 

not yet been approved by the EU; 
• Improvements to IFRS Project Cycle 2014 – 2016 - effective for financial years beginning on or 

after 1 January 2017 or 2018 or later; 
o IFRS 1 — First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 
o IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
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o IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests 
 
If not otherwise stated, the Company anticipates that the adoption of these standards, amendments to 
the existing standards, and interpretations will not have material impact on its financial statements.  
 
 
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
a) Basis of accounting 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for 
revaluation of specified fixed asset items and revaluation of certain financial instruments based on fair 
value. The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below. The Company's reporting and functional currency is the euro (€). These financial 
statements were prepared on a going concern basis.  
 
b) Segment information 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision-maker. The Board of Directors has been identified as the chief operating 
decision-maker as it adopts strategic decisions and is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing the performance of the operating segments. 
 
c) Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized on the Company's balance sheet when the Company 
becomes a party to a contractual provision of a related instrument.  
 
d) Financial assets 
 
The Company has the following categories of financial assets: loans issued, trade receivables, and 
financial assets available-for-sale.  
 
The available-for-sale category includes equity instruments which are initially recognized at fair value 
plus transaction costs and carried at fair value. Dividends are recognized in profit or loss for the year 
as finance income when the Company’s right to receive payments is established and it is probable that 
the dividends will be collected. All other elements of changes in the fair value are recognized in other 
comprehensive income until the investment is derecognized or impaired, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss is reclassified from other comprehensive income to finance income in profit or loss for the 
year.  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments not 
quoted in an active market. Loans and trade receivables and other receivables are initially recognized 
at fair value and subsequently measured in amortized costs using the effective interest method net of 
allowances. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership. 
 
The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Impairment losses are always recognized in 
the income statement against an allowance account to write down the asset’s carrying value. When a 
financial asset is derecognized, the current fair value less any impairment loss on that asset previously 
recognized in profit or loss is derecognized. Gains or losses realized on derecognition of a financial 
asset are represented by the calculated difference between the proceeds received from its disposal or 
sale, and the asset’s carrying value and are recognized in the income statement. 
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e) Derivative financial instruments 
 
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value and are revalued to fair value at 
subsequent reporting dates. Derivative financial instruments are contracts: (i) whose value changes in 
response to a change in one or more identifiable variables; (ii) that require no significant net initial 
investment; and (iii) that are settled at a certain future date. Derivative financial instruments of the 
Company include commodity swaps and currency forwards.  
 
Cash flow hedging 
 
The effective portion of changes in fair value of derivatives designated and qualifying for effective cash 
flow hedges is recognized in other comprehensive income accumulated in equity as a hedge reserve. 
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the income statement. 
Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in the hedging reserve are transferred 
to the income statement when the hedged item is recognized in the income statement, in the same 
line of the income statement as the hedged item. 
 
At the inception of the hedging contract, the Company documents the relationship between the 
hedging instrument and the hedged item, its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking 
the various hedge transactions. Since the establishment of hedging, the Company continuously 
documents whether the hedging instrument used by the Company is highly effective in offsetting 
changes in cash flows of the hedged item. 
 
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not meet the requirements of 
effective cash flow hedging are recognized in the income statement.  
 
f) Trade receivables 
 
Trade receivables are recognized at amortized cost, net of provisions for debtors in bankruptcy or 
restructuring proceedings and net of provisions for overdue and doubtful receivables, where there is a 
risk of them not being fully or partially settled. 
 
g) Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
 
In 2016, property, plant and equipment, used for the natural gas transmission, are recognized in the 
balance sheet in revalued amount, which represents the fair value at the date of revaluation, net of 
any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated losses from permanent 
impairment. The first revaluation was settled on 1 January 2016. The revaluation was prepared by an 
independent expert. Revaluations will be carried out regularly (at least every five years), so that the 
carrying amount does not differ materially from the amount recognized on the balance sheet date 
using fair values. 
 
Potential increase of the revaluation surplus that was incurred during the revaluation of such property, 
plant and equipment is recognized in the revaluation reserve. This takes into account the amount that 
will possibly cancel the revaluation surplus reduction for the same assets previously recorded and 
recognized in the Income Statement in the previous period. In this case the increase is recorded in the 
amount of the previously charged reduction in favour of the Income Statement. A reduction of the net 
book value resulting from the revaluation of such property, plant and equipment is charged to the 
Income Statement in the amount that exceeds the balance on reserve account from the revaluation of 
assets in relation to a previous revaluation of that asset. Depreciation on revalued property, plant and 
equipment is recognized as an expense in the Income Statement. Revaluation difference is gradually 
dissolved in retained earnings during the period of depreciation of revalued assets to which they 
relate. During the subsequent sale or disposal of a revalued property, the corresponding revaluation 
surplus,remaining in the revaluation reserve, is transferred directly to retained earnings. 
 
Other property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (referred to as fixed assets or FA) are 
recognized at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  
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Permanent gas filling of the transmission network, which is also acquired as part of the fixed assets, 
due to its nature, is not depreciated. 
Acquisition cost includes all costs incurred for putting the asset in use. 
 
Items of fixed assets that are damaged or disposed of are eliminated from the balance sheet at net 
book value. Any gain or loss resulting from such damage or disposal is included in the income 
statement. 
 
Items of fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
Depreciation charges are recognized in the income statement so as to amortize the cost of the assets 
to their estimated net book value over their residual useful lives. The total useful lives of fixed assets 
are as follows: 
 
Border entry/exit points, domestic points 11 – 53 
Compressor stations 8 - 49 
Gas pipelines 33 - 71 
Buildings  18 - 40 
Machinery and equipment, other tangible assets 3 - 19 
Non-current intangible assets  4 - 8 
 
Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite useful life.  
 
At each reporting date, property and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. An impairment loss is 
recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount in 
the year when it occurs. In the case of fixed assets with a positive revaluation surplus, allowance for 
impairment of fixed assets primarily reduces the positive revaluation surplus in equity and only the 
difference in excess of net book value of revaluation surplus is charged to the income statement. The 
discount rates used to calculate the net present value of future cash flows reflect current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In the event that a decision 
is made to abandon a construction project in progress or to postpone the planned completion date 
significantly, the carrying amount of the asset is reviewed for potential impairment and a provision is 
recognized, if appropriate. 
 
Expenditures related to the fixed assets already put in use are capitalized only if the possibility of 
future economic benefits exists, and the carrying amount of the asset can be measured. All other 
subsequent expenditures are treated as repairs and maintenance and are expensed in the period 
when incurred.  
 
h) Business combinations  
 
Assets and liabilities acquired in business combinations from the parties under common control are 
measured by using the predecessor values method. When using this method, assets and liabilities 
acquired in business combination are recognized by the Company on the acquisition date at the 
predecessor entity’s carrying amounts. The predecessor entity is considered to be the highest 
reporting entity in which the IFRS financial information of the business was consolidated. Any 
difference between the carrying amount of net assets and the consideration for the acquisition, which 
increases equity of the Company, is accounted for in these financial statements as an adjustment to 
retained earnings within equity. 
 
i) Inventories 
 
Inventories are recognized at the lower of their acquisition cost and their net realizable value. The cost 
of natural gas in the transmission network pipelines, as well as raw materials, and other inventories 
are calculated using the weighted average method. Costs of raw materials and other inventories 
comprise acquisition costs and other costs related to the acquisition; value of  inventories developed 
internally comprise of costs of materials, other direct costs and related production overheads. 
Increases in natural gas accumulation in the transmission network pipelines are recognized at 
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acquisition cost. There are no other costs related to acquisition of natural gas. Appropriate provision is 
created for obsolete and slow-moving inventories. 
 
 
j) Cash and cash equivalents 
  
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and cash in bank with insignificant risks of changes 
in value. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 
 
k) Bonds issued and loans received 
 
Bonds issued and loans received are recognized initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred. 
They are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  
 
l) Trade and other payables 
 
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired from suppliers in 
the ordinary course of business. Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value. After 
initial recognition, trade and other payables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
rate method. 
 
m) Provisions 
 
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or contingent) as a result 
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the value of the obligation can be made. 
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. The amount of the provision is the present value of the risk-adjusted expenditures expected 
to be required to settle the obligation, determined using the estimated risk-free interest rate as a 
discount rate. Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of the provision increases in each 
period to reflect a decrease in the value of discounting time.  
 
Provision for environmental liabilities 
 
Provision for environmental liabilities is recognized when it is probable that costs will be incurred to 
clean up the environment and these can be reliably estimated. The creation of the provision generally 
corresponds to acceptance of a formal plan or other commitments to sell investments or dismantle 
unused assets on the site. The amount of recognized provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditures required. If the liability is not settled in the near future, the amount of recognized 
provision represents the present value of estimated future expenditures. 
 
n) Greenhouse gas emissions 
 
The Company receives free emission rights as a result of its participation in the European Emission 
Trading Schemes. The rights are received on an annual basis and the Company is required to return 
emission rights equal to its actual emissions for the year. The Company recognizes a net liability 
resulting from the gas emissions produced. Therefore, a provision is recognized only when actual 
emissions exceed the emission rights received free of charge. When emission rights are purchased 
from third parties, they are measured at acquisition costs and recorded as intangible assets. When 
emission rights are acquired in exchange, they are measured at fair value at the acquisition date, and 
the difference between the fair value and acquisition cost is recognized in profit or loss for the period. 
 
o) Social security and pension schemes 
 
The Company is required to make contributions to various mandatory government insurance schemes, 
together with contributions made by employees. The cost of social security payments is charged to the 
income statement in the same period as the related salary cost. 
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p) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 
services in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities. 
 
The Company recognizes revenue when it can be reliably measured and future economic benefits will 
probably flow to it. The amount of revenue is not considered to be measurable reliably until all 
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. Sales are recorded upon the delivery of 
services net of value added tax and discounts. 
 
The Company records revenues mainly from fees for natural gas transmission, related services and 
revenues from the sale of gas in-kind and other revenues.  
 
(i) Fees for natural gas transmission 
Revenues from fees for natural gas transmission are recognized at the time, or in the period when a 
transmission capacity in the gas transmission network is assigned to a customer. They also comprise 
revenues from the received gas in-kind and are recognized in the period when gas transmission 
occurred. 
 
(ii) Revenues from the sale of gas for operational purposes  
Revenues from the sale of gas for operational purposes in case of savings are recognized when the 
gas is sold.  
 
(iii) Revenues from connection fees to transmission network  
Revenues from connection fees to transmission network are recognized when a customer is 
connected to the network.  
 
(iv) Sales of services  
Sales of services are recognized in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, by 
reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service 
provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. 
 
(v)  Dividend income  
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive the payment is established. 
 
(vi) Interest income  
Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis in the period when it is incurred, independent of the 
actual payments of the interest.  
  
q) Retirement and other long-term employee benefits 
 
The Company has a long-term employee benefit program comprising a lump-sum retirement benefit, 
social assistance benefit in material deprivation and life and work jubilee benefits, for which no 
separate financial funds were earmarked. In accordance with IAS 19, the employee benefits costs are 
assessed using the projected unit credit method. According to this method, the cost of providing 
pensions is charged to the income statement so as to spread the regular cost over the service period 
of employees. The benefit obligation is measured as the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows discounted by market yields on Slovak government bonds, which have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related liability. All actuarial gains and losses are recognized in the 
other comprehensive income in equity for the period when they arise. Past service costs are 
recognized immediately in the income statement. 
 
r) Leasing 
 
Operating lease 
The lessee under an operating lease arrangement does not present assets subject to an operating 
lease on its balance sheet nor does it recognize operating lease obligations for future periods. Lease 
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payments under an operating lease are recognized as an expense in the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.  
 
s) Income tax 
 
Current income tax is calculated from the accounting profit, as determined under Slovak legislation, 
and adjusted for certain items in accordance with tax legislation, at the currently valid tax rate of 22%. 
From 1 January 2017 the valid income tax rate will be 21%.  
 
In line with Act No. 235/2012 Coll., on a Special Levy on Business in Regulated Industries and on the 
Amendment to and Supplementation of Certain Acts, the Company is obliged to pay a monthly special 
levy effective from September 2012. The levy rate is 4.356% per annum. From 1 January 2017 the 
levy rate valid for 2017 is 8.712 % per annum. This levy is based on profit before tax and is presented 
as part of the current income tax pursuant to the IFRS requirements.  
 
Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. Deferred tax is calculated at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply for the period when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled. Deferred tax is recognized in the income statement, except for when it relates to items directly 
credited or directly charged to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognized in equity. The 
income tax rate valid since 1 January 2014 is 22%. To calculate deferred income tax, the Company 
used the rate of 21%, which is valid in Slovakia from 1 January 2017. 
 
Major temporary differences arise from depreciation of fixed assets, various allowances, provisions 
and derivative financial instruments. A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the tax deductible temporary differences can 
be utilized. 
 
t) Foreign currency transactions 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the European Central Bank (ECB) rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets, receivables and payables denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated into a functional currency using the ECB exchange rates prevailing at 
the balance sheet date. Exchange rate gains and losses arising from the translations at the balance 
sheet date are recognized in the income statement. 
 
u) Accounting principles adopted for government grants 
 
Government grants are recognized if there is reasonable assurance that a grant 
will be received and all the conditions necessary to obtain a grant are fulfilled. If a government grant is 
intended to compensate expenses, it is recognized as revenue in the period in which such expenses 
are incurred. If a grant relates to the acquisition of fixed assets, it is recognized as deferred revenue 
and it is released in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the relevant 
assets. In the balance sheet, the government grants are recognized using the deferred revenue 
method. 
 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
In applying the Company's accounting policies described in Note 3, the Company made the following 
decisions concerning uncertainties and estimates that have a significant impact on the amounts 
recognized in the financial statements. There is a possible future significant risk of material 
adjustments in the following areas:  
 
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 
 
As at 1 January 2016, the Company applied the revaluation model under IAS 16 "Property, plant and 
equipment" for the property, plant, and equipment used for natural gas transmission. The assets 
include gas pipelines, compressor stations and border entry/exit points and domestic points. 
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The Company has decided on this model because it considers that it will result in financial statements 
providing more reliable and relevant information about the buildings, construction, land, machinery and 
equipment used for natural gas transmission. 
Revaluation of assets was recorded without effect on prior periods. The result of the revaluation was 
the increase of the value of property, plant and equipment by €2,222,000 thousand, the increase of 
the deferred tax liability by €488,840 thousand and the creation of the revaluation reserve in equity, as 
well as the impairment of property, plant and equipment of €7,355 thousand charged to the Income 
Statement in line Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses, net. 
 
Revaluation of assets in the Company was conducted by an independent expert who used mainly the 
cost approach supported by the market approach for some types of asset. In general, the replacement 
cost method was used and the indexed historical cost method for assets where reproductive rates 
were not available. By determining of the fair value of individual assets with the cost approach, 
physical deterioration, plus technological and economic obsolescence of assets was acknowledged.  
 
The result of the revaluation of assets used for natural gas transmission is an increase in the value of 
assets and related increase in the equity. The assumptions used in the revaluation model are based 
on the reports of independent appraisers. The resulting reported amounts of these assets and the 
related revaluation surplus of assets do not necessarily represent the value in which these assets 
could or will be sold. The Company, based on an independent assessment, also reconsidered the 
economic useful lives of property, plant and equipment used within gas transmission business. 
Assessment of economic useful lives requires the expert opinion of technical experts. 
 
There are uncertainties about future economic conditions, changes in technology and the competitive 
environment within the industry, which could potentially result in future adjustments to estimated 
revaluations and useful lives of assets that can significantly modify the reported financial position, 
equity and profit. Further information is disclosed in Note 7.  
 
Economic useful lives  
 
The estimation of the useful life of an item of fixed assets is a matter of management judgment based 
upon experience with similar assets. In determining the useful life of an asset, management considers 
the expected usage based on usage estimates, estimated technical obsolescence, amortization and 
the environment in which the asset is operated. Changes in any of these conditions or estimates may 
result in adjustments to future depreciation rates. 
 
During 2016, the Company reconsidered the useful life of property, plant and equipment used for the 
natural gas transmission based on independent expert opinion. Changes in estimates of the useful life 
are reflected prospectively. 
 
Detailed information is disclosed in Note 7. 
 
The economic useful lives of fixed assets are based on the best estimates as listed in Note 3 g). The 
carrying values of these assets at the year ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are 
presented in Note 7 and 8. If the estimated useful lives of the pipeline and compressor stations were 
five years longer than management's estimate as at 31 December 2016, a depreciation of assets 
constituting pipelines and compressor stations would be lower by €24,832 thousand (as at 31 
December 2015 lower by €17,161 thousand). 
 
 
5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
a) Financial risk  
 
The Company is exposed to various financial risks. The Company's overall risk management policy 
addresses the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on 
the financial position of the Company. To manage certain risks, the Company enters into trading with 
financial derivative instruments, e.g., forward or swap currency and commodity contracts. The purpose 
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of such practice is to manage risks related to movements in FX rates and commodity prices arising 
from the Company's operations.  
 
The main risks arising from financial instruments of the Company are exchange rate risk, commodity 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
(1) Exchange rate risk 
 
The company operates internationally, but almost all of its income and expenses are denominated in 
domestic currency euro, minimizing its currency risk. 
 
Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by currency:  
 
 Assets  Liabilities 

 
As at 31 

December 2016 
As at 31 

December 2015  
As at 31 

December 2016 
As at 31 

December 2015 
      
USD 114 53  60 5,043 
CZK 3 46,849  - 91 
 
 
The table below displays the sensitivity of the Company to a 10% increase or decrease of euro against 
USD and a 2% increase or decrease of euro against CZK. The sensitivity analysis includes only 
unpaid monetary items denominated in foreign currencies and shows their translation at the period 
end for a change in exchange rates. 
  

Impact in US dollar and CZK 

 As at 31 
December 2016 

As at 31 
December 2015 

   
Effect on profit before tax USD 6 2 
Effect on profit before tax CZK - 954 
 
The effects mainly relate to risks of funds in USD at the balance sheet date (in 2015, the risk related to 
outstanding payables in USD and funds in CZK at the end of the year). 
 
Positive value indicates the potential gain recognized in the income statement in case of decrease of 
euro against related currency. 
 
(2) Commodity price risk 
 
Commodity price risk is the risk or uncertainty arising from possible movements in prices for natural 
gas and its impact on the Company’s future performance and results of the Company’s operations. A 
decline in the prices could result in a decrease in net income and cash flows.  
 
The Company regularly performs estimations of the surplus of natural gas and enters into short and 
mid-term commodity swaps in order to hedge its selling prices. 
 
In 2016, the Company entered into commodity swaps to hedge cash flow from sales of surplus of gas 
in-kind. 
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The following table details swap commodity contracts outstanding at the balance sheet date:  
  
 
Open commodity swaps 2016 2016 
 Fair value Nominal value 
 Cash flow hedging Held for trading Cash flow hedging Held for trading 
Sales of natural gas      
Less than 3 months 2,345 - 32,426  - 
3 to 12 months 4,626 - 93,738 - 
Over 12 months (2,990) - 20,527 - 
 
 
Open commodity swaps 2015 2015 

 Fair value Nominal value 
 Cash flow hedging Held for trading Cash flow hedging Held for trading 

Sales of natural gas      
Less than 3 months 12,372 - 41,606 - 
3 to 12 months 32,725 - 121,266 - 
Over 12 months 22,058 - 95,153 - 
 
 
The 15% change in the market price of the natural gas would have impact on the fair value of 
derivatives of €21,407 thousand. 
 
Movement in hedging reserve is disclosed in Note 19.  
 
(3) Interest rate risk 
 
The Company has no significant exposure to an interest rate risk. As at 31 December 2016, the 
Company issued bonds with fixed interest rate and also granted long-term loans with fixed interest 
rate. The Company had a long-term investment loan at 31 December 2016 with a floating interest rate 
and short-term operating loans with fixed interest rate (see Note 16). The Company considers 
exposure to interest rate risk to the extent of fluctuation of interest rates applied to the above 
mentioned long-term investment loan. 
 
(4) Credit risk 
 
The Company is exposed to a credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will 
cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. Exposure to credit risk 
arises as a result of the Company’s sales of services on credit and other transactions with 
counterparties giving rise to financial assets. The credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
deposits with banks and financial institutions, loans and trade receivables.  
 
As for the cash and cash equivalents in banks, the Company has entered into relationships only with 
those banks that have a high independent rating assessment. 
 
The Company renders its services to various customers, none of which, individually or collectively, in 
terms of volume and margin, represents a significant credit risk. Operational procedures are in place in 
the Company ensuring that services are rendered to customers with good credit history and only up to 
an acceptable credit limit. In addition to the existing trade receivables, the Company has receivables 
arising from loans issued to the parent company. 
 
The maximum exposure to the default risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial 
asset, including derivative financial instruments, recognized in the balance sheet, net of any bad debt 
provision. The default risk is partially eliminated through the securities received as disclosed in Note 
11. 
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The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows:  
 
 Note 2016  2015 
     
Loans issued 9 25  183,578 
Receivables and prepayments  460,423  462,883 
- Receivables from transmission activities 11 45,131  38,907 
- Receivables from financial derivatives 11 11,209  67,242 
- Other receivables 11 404,083  356,734 
Other assets   1,634  1,634 
 
 
     
Cash and cash equivalents  104,269  90,421 
Total maximum exposure to credit risk  566,351  738,516 
 
 
Credit quality of cash in banks as at 31 December 2016 was as follows: €40,782 thousand in a bank 
with a rating of Moody's A2; €991 thousand in a bank with a rating of Moody's A3; €13,417 thousand in 
a bank rated Baa2 by Moody's; €5,002 thousand in a bank rated Fitch A+; €39,993 thousand in a bank 
rated Fitch A-; €4,078 thousand in a bank rated by Fitch BBB+. 
 
(5) Liquidity risk 
 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining a sufficient level of cash and cash equivalents 
with adequate maturity, availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit lines 
and the ability to close open market positions. The Company, as a member of the SPP Infrastructure 
group is a party to a system of effective utilization of resources and liquidity optimization (SEUR). 
Within the system flexibility is maintained by securing stable availability of financial resources for all 
parties to SEUR in order to cover their financial needs (so called cash-pooling).  
 
As at 31 December 2016, the Company recognized a long-term investment loan which was provided 
by the European Investment Bank (EIB) in 2014 of €75,000 thousand, and short-term operating loans 
with fixed rates, see Note 16. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



eustream, a.s. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(€ '000) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
THIS IS A TRANSLATION OF THE ORIGINAL SLOVAK DOCUMENT. 20 

 
The table below summarizes the maturity of the financial liabilities and contingent liabilities as at 31 
December 2016 and 31 December 2015 based on contractual undiscounted payments: 
 

As at 31 December 
2016 

On 
demand 

Less than 
3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 

       
Bonds issued - 14,287 30,446 887,464 549,809 1,482 006 
Loans received - 67 200 75,874 - 76,141 
Other financial liabilities - 17,359 1,726 19,719 - 38,804 
Trade and other 
payables - 11,849 - - - 11,849 

Guarantee issued 1,480,625 - - - - 1,480,625 
 
 
 

As at 31 December 
2015 

On 
demand 

Less than 
3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 

       
Bonds issued - 13,794 30,446 917,910 564,096 1,526,246 
Loans received - 80,200 321 1,714 75,108 157,343 
Other financial liabilities - 11,727 119 10,771 - 22,617 
Trade and other 
payables - 32,512 - - - 32,512 

Guarantee issued 1,521,875 - - - - 1,521,875 
Currency swap 
contracts for trading - 14 - - - 14 
 
 
b) Capital risk management  
 
The Company manages its capital to ensure its ability to support business activities on an ongoing 
basis while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt to equity ratio 
and ensuring strong credit rating and vital capital ratios. 
 
The Company's capital structure comprises cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to the 
Company's owners as disclosed in Notes 18 and 19, and loans received and bonds issued as 
disclosed in Note 16. Liabilities to capital (gearing) ratios were 47% as at 31 December 2016  and 
120% as at 31 December 2015. 
 
The gearing ratio at the year-end: 
 As at 31 

December 2016  As at 31 
December 2015 

    
Debt (i) (1,335,980)  (1,416,110) 
Cash and cash equivalents 104,269  90,421 
Net debt (ii) (1,231,711)  (1,325,689) 
Equity (iii) 2,609,771  1,105,331 
Net debt to equity ratio 47 %  120 % 
 

(i) Debt is defined as long-term and short-term bonds issued and loans received. 
(ii) Net debt is defined as difference between debt and cash and cash equivalents 
(iii) Page 4 
 
The indebtedness of the Company has not exceeded the indebtedness stated in the Articles of 
Association. 
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c) Categories of financial instruments 
 

 31 December 2016  31 December 2015 
    

Financial assets    
Derivative financial instruments recognized as hedging 11,209  67,155 
Derivative financial instruments held for trading -  87 
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 555,117  487,696 
Loans at amortized costs 25  183,578 
Investments available for sale in fair value 6,607  6,607 

    
Financial liabilities    
Derivative financial instruments recognized as hedging 7,228  - 
Derivative financial instruments held for trading -  14 
Financial liabilities carried at amortized costs 1,386,633  1,471,239 

 
 
For the purposes of recognition of financial instruments the Company classifies its financial assets into 
the following categories: loans and receivables; available-for-sale investments, hedging financial 
derivatives and financial derivatives held for trading, as required by IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement”. 
 
All of the Company’s financial assets are classified as loans and receivables except for the financial 
assets available-for-sale, financial derivatives recognized as hedging and financial derivatives held for 
trading. 
 
All of the Company’s financial liabilities except for financial derivatives recognized as hedging and 
financial derivatives held for trading are carried at amortized cost.  
 
 
d) Estimated fair value of financial instruments 
 
Fair value measurements are analyzed by level in the fair value hierarchy as follows: (i) level one are 
measurements at quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, (ii) 
level two measurements are valuations techniques with all material inputs observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices), and (iii) level three 
measurements are valuations not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 
Management applies judgment in categorizing financial instruments using the fair value hierarchy. If a 
fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment, that measurement 
is a Level 3 measurement. The significance of a valuation input is assessed against the fair value 
measurement in its entirety.  
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(1) Recurring fair value measurements 
 
Recurring fair value measurements are those that the accounting standards require or permit in the 
statement of financial position at the end of each reporting period. 
 
The levels in the fair value hierarchy into which the recurring fair value measurements are categorized 
are as follows: 
 

As at 31 December 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
     

Financial assets at fair value  - 11,209 6,607 17,816 
Financial derivatives recognized as hedging - 11,209 - 11,209 
Financial derivatives for trading - - - - 
Financial assets available-for-sale  - - 6,607 6,607 

     
Financial liabilities and contingent 
liabilities at fair value - 7,228 - 7,228 

Financial derivatives recognized as hedging - 7,228 - 7,228 
Financial derivatives for trading - - - - 

 
As at 31 December 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     
Financial assets at fair value  - 67,242 6,607 73,849 

Financial derivatives recognized as hedging - 67,155 - 67,155 
Financial derivatives for trading - 87 - 87 
Financial assets available-for-sale  - - 6,607 6,607 

     
Financial liabilities at fair value - 14 - 14 

Financial derivatives recognized as hedging - - - - 
Financial derivatives for trading - 14 - 14 

 
The fair value of commodity swaps is determined using forward commodity prices as at the reporting 
date.  
 
The fair value of currency swaps is determined using forward exchange rates at the reporting date. 
 
Fair value of available-for-sale financial investment was estimated based on the present value of 
future cash flows, which were estimated by the management based on the available financial results of 
the investment and its approved budget. 
 
Fair value of guarantee issued and described in Note 29, Commitments and contingencies, was 
determined as euro nil, as it was provided under the current market conditions and it is not probable 
that the Company will settle the obligation resulting from the guarantee. 
 
The estimated fair values of other financial instruments, mainly current financial assets and liabilities, 
approximate their carrying amounts.  
 
In 2016 and 2015, there were no movements among the financial instruments classified in Levels 1-3.  
Non-recurring fair value measurements 
 
There were no non-recurring fair value measurements in 2016. 
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(2) Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value  
 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at different levels and their carrying values: 
 

As at 31 December 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Carrying value 
     
Financial assets - - 25 25 
Loans issued with fixed interest rate - - 25 25 
     
Financial liabilities  - 1,343,700 75,011 1,335,980 
Bonds issued - 1,343,700 0 1,260,969 
Loans received -  75,011 75,011 
     
 

As at 31 December 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Carrying value 
     
Financial assets - - 212,071 183,578 
Loans issued with fixed interest rate - - 212,071 183,578 
     
Financial liabilities  - 1,239,990 155,060 1,416,110 
Bonds issued - 1,239,990 0 1,261,050 
Loans received -  155,060 155,060 
 
In 2015, fair value of the loan issued with fixed interest rate was estimated based on the expected 
future cash flows discounted by an interest rate, which SPP Infrastructure would obtain for loans with 
the similar maturity and credit risk. 

Fair value of bonds issued was assessed with reference to market value of the bonds issued by SPP 
Infrastructure Financing B.V. (refer to Note 29). 

The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their carrying values at the 
balance sheet date. 
 
Non-current trade receivables and trade payables were discounted unless the effect of discounting 
was inconsiderable. 
 
(3) Embedded derivative instruments 
 
Transmission contracts denominated in euro represented the currency of the primary economic 
environment for one of the significant contractual parties and that is why these contracts were not 
regarded as a host contract with an embedded derivative under the requirements of IAS 39. Hence, in 
accordance with IAS 39 (as revised in December 2003), the Company did not recognize the 
embedded derivatives separately from the host contract. 
 
The Company assessed all other significant contracts and agreements for embedded derivatives that 
should be recorded. The Company concluded that there are no embedded derivatives in these 
contracts and agreements which needs to be measured and separately recognized as at 31 December 
2016 and 31 December 2015 under the requirements of IAS 39 (as revised in 2003). 
 
 
6. SEGMENT REPORTING 
 
The Company assessed segment information for the current and comparative reporting periods in 
accordance with IFRS 8 Operating segments. 
According to the nature of products and services provided, the Board of Directors has identified one 
operating segment which is used to manage the Company’s business, allocate resources and make 
strategic decisions. The Company’s activities are concentrated in Slovakia, where all the fixed assets 
are situated. The main indicators used by the Board of Directors in their decision making are earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) and capital expenditure cash outflows. 
For their decision making, the Board of Directors uses financial information consistent with that 
disclosed in these financial statements. 
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Revaluation of fixed assets for natural gas transmission: 
 
On 1 January 2016, an independent expert conducted a revaluation of buildings, structures, land, 
machinery and equipment used for natural gas transmission, primarily using the cost approach, 
especially the replacement cost method. Replacement costs are based on the acquisition cost of 
equivalent assets (EA) and are the estimated net book value of the assets from the acquisition cost of 
EA, useful lives and age of existing assets (replacement cost less depreciation methodology). 
 
Assets used for natural gas transmission include land, buildings and structures, machinery and 
equipment. 
 
Further information is disclosed in Note 4. 
 
Property insurance 
 
Type and amount of insurance for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (in € thousand): 
 

Insured object Type of insurance 
Acquisition cost of insured 

assets Name and seat of the 
insurance company 2016 2015 

     
Buildings, halls, structures, 
machinery, equipment, 
fixture & fittings, low-value 
TFA, other TFA, Works of 
art, inventories 

Insurance of assets 890,044 729,534 Allianz-Slovenská 
poisťovňa, a.s. 

Kooperativa, a. s. 
 

Motor vehicles MTPL 7,904 10,126 Kooperativa, a. s. 
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

Year ended 31 December 2016 Software  

Other 
non-current 

intangible assets  
Assets under 
construction  Total 

        
Opening net book value 4,534  17  472  5,023 
Additions -  -  1,567  1,567 
Put in use 1,830  1  (1,831)  - 
Reclassifications -  -  -  - 
Disposals -  -  -  - 
Amortization charge (2,196)  (5)  -  (2,201) 
Change in provisions -  -  -  - 
Closing net book value 4,168  13  208  4,389 
        
As at 31 December 2016        
Acquisition cost 15,576  150  371  16,097 
Provisions and accumulated depreciation (11,408)  (137)  (163)  (11,708) 
Net book value 4,168  13  208  4,389 
 
 
 

Year ended 31 December 2015 Software  

Other 
non-current 

intangible assets  
Assets under 
construction  Total 

As at 31 December 2014        
Acquisition cost 13,595  128  253  13,976 
Provisions and accumulated depreciation (7,506)  (126)  (163)  (7,795) 
Net book value 6,089  2  90  6,181 
        
Opening net book value 6,089  2  90  6,181 
Additions -  -  1,154  1,154 
Put in use 752  20  (772)  - 
Reclassifications 14  -  -  14 
Disposals -  -  -  - 
Amortization charge (2,321)  (5)  -  (2,326) 
Change in provisions -  -  -  - 
Closing net book value 4,534  17  472  5,023 
        
As at 31 December 2015        
Acquisition cost 14,320  149  635  15,104 
Provisions and accumulated depreciation (9,786)  (132)  (163)  (10,081) 
Net book value 4,534  17  472  5,023 
 
 

 

 
  

Reconciliation of investments (cash effective) to additions to non-current assets: 

 
31 December 2016  31 December 2015 

    
Investments (cash effective) 15,077  11,979 
Assets acquired but not paid for 2,612  2,994 
Payments to assets acquired in prior periods (6,651)  (4,597) 
Additions to PP&E and intangibles 11,038  10,376 
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9. NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 
 
Non-current financial investments include: 
 

 
 

Loans 
issued  Shares  

31 December 
2016  

31 December 
2015 

        
Acquisition cost 25  6,607  6,632  190,185 
Impairment -  -  -  - 
Closing balance, net 25  6,607  6,632  190,185 
 
 
Recognized in the value of non-current financial investments is the loan granted in 2016 to the 
subsidiary eastring B.V. of €25 thousand with maturity in 2021. The interest rate is fixed at 3.51% p.a. 
and is payable together with the principal. The loan is not secured. Refer to Note 30. 
 
Also recognized in this category was the loan granted to the parent company SPP Infrastructure of 
€964,314 thousand in 2013 with maturity in 2020. Part of the loan of €147,985 thousand (after early 
repayments in 2014 and 2015) was partially offset with payable from declared dividends (in 2015 offset 
with payable of €203,653 thousand). The remaining part of the loan of €39,478 thousand was paid 
directly to the bank account of the Company. The interest rate was fixed at 4.245% p.a. and was 
payable together with the principal. The loan was not secured. Refer to Note 30. 
 
Shares represent equity interests in the following companies: 
 
 

Name 
Country of 
registration 

Equity interest 
in % Core activity 

    
Other equity interests    
Central European Gas HUB AG 
(further CEGH)  

Austria 15 Intermediation of natural 
gas trading 

Eastring B.V. Netherlands 100 Holding company 
 
 
10. INVENTORIES  
 
 31 December 

2016  
 31 December 

2015 
    
Natural gas used for balancing 19,644  24,073 
Material and other inventories 13,257  12,496 
Provision  (6,094)  (8,722) 
Total 26,807  27,847 
 
  
The balance of natural gas represents natural gas accumulated in the pipelines used for balancing the 
transmission system and for operational needs.   
 
As at 31 December 2016, provision was created only for obsolete or damaged raw materials in stock 
(as at 31 December 2015 provision for obsolete or damaged raw materials in stock and for natural gas 
inventories). 
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11. RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS 
 
 31 December 

2016 
 31 December 

2015 
    
Receivables from transmission activities 45,131  38,907 
Receivables from financial derivatives 11,209  67,242 
Prepayments  204  146 
Other receivables 403,879  356,588 
Other taxes 39  1,120 
Total 460,462  464,003 
 
 
As at 31 December 2016, the Company recorded due receivables of €460,271 thousand and overdue 
receivables of €191 thousand excluding provision. As at 31 December 2015, the Company recorded 
receivables due and overdue of €463,911 thousand and €264 thousand, respectively, excluding 
provision.  
 
Receivables and prepayments are disclosed net of provisions for bad and doubtful receivables of € 176 
thousand (31 December 2015: €172 thousand).  
 
Receivables from transmission activities are mainly receivables against well-known international gas 
transmission companies and were fully paid at the date of preparation of these financial statements. 
 
Other receivables are mainly receivables from cash-pooling with SPP Infrastructure of €399,000 
thousand (31 December 2015 €352,080 thousand), whose conditions are comparable to those of 
current bank accounts. In 2016 a portion of receivables from cash-pooling of €352,015 thousand (out of 
which €13 thousand was granted in 2016) was offset with payable from declared dividends. 
In 2015, a portion of receivables from cash-pooling of €1,196,347 thousand (out of which € 852,017 
thousand was granted in 2015) was offset with payable from declared dividends. 
 
SPP Infrastructure is the parent company of SPP - distribúcia, a.s., eustream, a.s., NAFTA a.s. and 
others (see Note 1.1). Taking careful consideration of historical and future financial performance of the 
subsidiaries of SPP Infrastructure, management believes that receivables and other receivables against 
SPP Infrastructure are fully recoverable. 
 
Receivables securities 
 
To secure the Company’s receivables, several bank guarantees were issued of €50,673 thousand (31 
December 2015: €53,659 thousand).  
 
Movements in provision for receivables were as follows:  
 
 
 31 December 

2016 
 31 December 

2015 
    
Opening balance (172)  (175) 
Creation (5)  (1) 
Use 1  - 
Reversal  -  4 
Closing balance (176)  (172) 
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12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
 

 31 December 
2016 

 31 December 
2015 

    
Cash on hand and cash in bank 73,137  68,166 
Cash on hand and cash in bank – financial guarantees 31,127  22,255 
Total 104,264  90,421 
 
 
 
The balance of cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2016 include financial guarantees of  
€31,127 thousand (31 December 2015: €22,255 thousand). 
 
   
13. DEFERRED REVENUE 
 
Deferred revenue mainly represent grants allocated by the European Commission related to the reverse 
flow projects of the Compressor station 4 and Plavecký Peter gas pipelines, the cross-border 
interconnections between Hungary and Slovakia and between Poland and Slovakia, and a project 
related to emission reduction (DLE) at compressor stations 3 and 4.  
 
Changes in deferred revenue recognized in the balance sheet for the year ended 31 December 2016 
are as follows:  
 
 
 

31 December 
2016 

 31 December 
2015 

    
Opening balance 6,978  4,836 
Inventory surpluses of depreciated assets 136  - 
Grants allocated during the period -  2,338 
Derecognition -  (38) 
Reversal (132)  (158) 
Closing balance 6,982  6,978 
 
 
 

 
Current portion (included 

in other current 
liabilities)  Non-current portion  Total 

      
As at 31 December 2016  126  6,856  6,982 
As at 31 December 2015  159  6,819  6,978 
 
 
 
 
14. RETIREMENT AND OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
The long-term employee benefits program of the Company was launched in 2006. This is a defined 
benefit program, under which the employees are entitled to a lump-sum payment upon reaching 
retirement age or disability retirement and, subject to vesting conditions, life and work jubilee payments. 
Under the applicable collective agreement, employees are entitled to the retirement benefits based on 
the number of continuously worked years in selected gas companies. The retirement benefits range 
from one month to six months of the employee's average salary (minimum average monthly salary of 
€665 and maximum average monthly salary of €1,330). As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 
2015, the obligation relating to retirement and other long-term employee benefits was calculated on the 
basis of valid collective agreements in the given years. 
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As at 31 December 2016, there were 658 (31 December 2015: 747) employees covered by this 
program. The program is not funded, without separately allocated assets to cover its liabilities.  
 
Movements in the net liability recognized in the balance sheet for the year ended 31 December 2016 
are as follows:  
 

 Long-term 
benefits  

Post-employment 
benefits  

Total at 
31 December 

2016  

Total at 
31 December 

2015 
        
Net liabilities at 1 January 438  3,113  3,551  3,280 
Net expense/ (revenue) recognized (27)  (41)  (68)  335 
Benefits paid (58)  (111)  (169)  (64) 
Net liabilities  353  2,961  3,314  3,551 
 
 

 Current liabilities (included in 
other current liabilities)  

Non-current 
liabilities  Total 

      
As at 31 December 2016 210  3,104  3,314 
As at 31 December 2015  202  3,349  3,551 
 
 
 
Key assumption used in actuarial valuation:  
 

  At 31 December 2016   At 31 December 2015 
    
Market yield on government bonds 1.329 %  1.526 % 
Future real rate of salary increase, p. a. 2.00 %  2.00 % 
Employee turnover, p. a. 1.44 %  1.44 % 

Retirement age (male and female) 
62 for male and 60 for 

female  
62 for male and 60 for 

female 
 
 
 
 
 
Sensitivity analysis of the commitment to change in important assumptions is shown in the following 
table: 
 

 

 
Net liability for 

employee benefits 
Change in the discount 

rate  

Change in 
average 

wage 

Change in the 
expected life 
expectancy 

       
  + 0.5 % - 0.5 %  + 0.5 % + 1 year 
As at 31 December 2016 3,314 (148) 159  44 75 
As at 31 December 2015 3,551 (172) 185  5 81 
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15. PROVISIONS 
 
Movements in provisions are summarized in the following table: 
 

 
 

Environmental 
provision  

Other 
provisions  

Total at 
31 December 

2016  

Total at 
31 December 

2015 
         
Balance at 1 January  7,855  91  7,946  7,828 
Effect of discounting  38  -  38  27 
Creation of provision  -  -  -  91 
Utilization of provision  -  (91)  (91)  - 
Reversal of provision  -  -  -  - 
Closing balance  7,893  -  7,893  7,946 
 
 
Provisions are included in liabilities as follows: 
 

 
Current provisions 
(included in other 
current liabilities)  

Non-current 
provisions  

Total 
provisions 

      
As at 31 December 2016 -  7,893  7,893 
As at 31 December 2015 91  7,855  7,946 
 
 
Environmental provision 
 
The project performed in 2011 identified environmental burdens in all compressor stations operated by 
eustream. Oil and condensate from gas transmission pollution was confirmed on all compressor 
stations. A partial decontamination in areas apart from gas facilities in operation took place on three of 
them (CS01, CS02, CS03). The pollution detected at all compressor stations concerns the soil 
underneath the 6MW turbo machinery halls. The Company recognized the provision for 
decontamination works based on current existing technologies and prices adjusted for expected inflation 
factor at amortized costs. Discount rate taken into consideration reflected the current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific factors (rate of approximately 1.27% was 
used). The provision was recognized as part of the contribution of part of the business at €8,344 
thousand. 
 
Other provisions as at 31 December 2015 included provision of €91 thousand to cover liabilities from 
other expenses. 
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16. LOANS RECEIVED AND BONDS ISSUED 
 
In 2015, the Company issued private unsecured bonds through which it received funds of €492,660 
thousand. 
 
The bonds were issued in euro currency with a fixed interest rate of 2.90% p.a. (coupon). The bonds 
have a fixed final maturity date, with a lump-sum at the final maturity date on 10 February 2025. 
 
The effective interest rate is 2.90% p.a. The whole volume of issued bonds was purchased by an entity 
under common control - SPP Infrastructure Financing B.V. with registered seat in the Netherlands. 
 
In 2013, the Company issued private unsecured bonds through which it received funds of €746,555 
thousand. 
 
The bonds were issued in euro currency, in two tranches, with a fixed interest rate of 4.12% p.a. 
(coupon). The Bonds have a fixed final maturity date, with a lump-sum at the final maturity date  
on 15 July 2020. 
 
The effective interest rate of the first tranche (€494,134 thousand) is 4.12% p.a. and of the second 
tranche (€248,006 thousand) is 3.819% p.a. The whole volume of issued bonds was purchased by an 
entity under common control - SPP Infrastructure Financing B.V. with registered seat in the 
Netherlands. 
 
On 28 February 2014, the Company received a long-term investment loan from the EIB of €75,000 
thousand. The loan is due in 2021. The loan bears a variable interest rate based on 3M EURIBOR with 
an update every three months. As at 31 December 2016, the interest rate was 0.353 % p.a. and the 
effective interest rate was 0.373 % p.a. As at 31 December 2015, the interest rate was 0.563 % p.a. and 
the effective interest rate was 0.568 % p.a. 
 
In November 2015, the Company withdrew short-term operating loans of €80,000 thousand. The loans 
were paid in the first quarter of 2016. The loans had a fixed interest rate based on EURIBOR 1M and 
3M. 
 
 

 

31 
December 

2016 
secured  

31 
December 

2016 
unsecured  

31 December 
2016 
total  

31 
December 

2015 
secured  

31 
December 

2015 
unsecured 

31 December 
2015 
total 

           
Loans   75,011  75,011  -  155,060 155,060 
Bonds issued -  1,260,969  1,260,969  -  1,261,050 1,261,050 
Total -  1,335,980  1,335,980  -  1,416,110 1,416,110 
           
Received loans and 
issued bonds based 
on currency:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
euro            
- variable interest 
rate - 

 
75,011 

 
75,011 

 
- 

 
75,017 75,017 

– fixed interest rate   1,341,012  1,341,012  -  1,341,093 1,341,093 
Total -  1,416,023  1,416,023  -  1,416,110 1,416,110 
           
Received loans and 
issued bonds 
maturity:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
Up to 1 year -  26,962  26,962  -  106,470 106,470 
1 to 5 years -  816,358  816,358  -  742,035 742,035 
More than 5 years -  492,660  492,660  -  567,605 567,605 
Total -  1,335,980  1,335,980  -  1,416,110 1,416,110 
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 Carrying amount  Fair value (note 5 (d) (3)) 

 31 December 
2016  

31 December 
2015  

31 December 
2016  

31 December 
2015 

        
Loans 75,011  155,060  75 011  155,060 
Bonds issued 1,260,969  1,261,050  1,343,700  1,239,990 
Total  1,335,980  1,416,110  1,418,711  1,395,050 

 
 
 
17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

 At 31 December 
2016  At 31 December 

2015 
    
Trade payables  10,503  23,718 
Other liabilities 19,084  11,846 
Liabilities from transmission activities 1,346  8,794 
Liabilities from financial derivatives 7,228  14 

Total financial liabilities 38,161  44,372 
 
Liabilities to employees  5,000  4,413 

Liabilities from social insurance and other taxes 2,738  2,593 

Total non - financial liabilities 7,738  7,006 
Total 45,899  51,378 
 
 
As at 31 December 2016, the Company recorded due liabilities of €45,418 thousand and overdue 
liabilities of €481 thousand. As at 31 December 2015, the Company recorded due liabilities of  
€51,356 thousand and overdue liabilities of €22 thousand. 
 
Trade payables as at 31 December 2016 includes payables due to the company NAFTA a.s. of  
€2,115 thousand (31 December 2015: €7,621 thousand) and to the company SPP – distribúcia, a.s. of 
€0 thousand (31 December 2015: €3,021 thousand). 
 
 
Social fund liabilities 
 
 2016  2015 
    
Opening balance at 1 January 2016 314  163 
Total creation: 271  326 
from expenses 271  326 
Total usage: (167)  (175) 
monetary rewards and gifts (28)  (26) 
emergency benefit -  (5) 
work jubilee benefits (34)  (39) 
catering allowance (74)  (76) 
other drawing as per CA (32)  (29) 
Closing balance at 31 December 2016 419  314 
 
 
Liabilities secured by pledge or other form of collateral 
 
As at 31 December 2016, there is a bank guarantee in Tatra banka established totaling €700 thousand 
for liabilities to the Customs Office (31 December 2015: €700 thousand). 
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18. REGISTERED CAPITAL 
 
The registered capital consists of 10 ordinary certificate-form shares with a face value of €3,319.39 per 
share, one ordinary certificate-form share with a face value of €82,895,533.19 and one ordinary 
certificate-form share with a face value of €200,000,000.00. From 13 June 2014, SPP Infrastructure is 
the 100% owner of these shares (until 12 June 2014: SPP). The registered capital was incorporated in 
the Commercial Register in the full amount. Shares have the same rights and each share represents 
identical voting rights. 
 
 
19. LEGAL RESERVE FUND AND RETAINED EARNINGS 
 
Since 1 January 2008, the Company is required to prepare financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS as adopted by the EU. Distributable profit represents amounts based on these financial 
statements.  
 
Legal reserve fund 
 
The legal reserve fund of €56,586 thousand (31 December 2015: €56,586 thousand) is created in 
accordance with Slovak legislation and is not distributable to shareholders. The reserve is created from 
retained earnings to cover possible future losses or increase of the registered capital. Contribution of at 
least 10% of the current year's profit is required to be made until the reserve is equal to at least 20% of 
the registered capital. The legal reserve fund in the Company has already reached 20% of the 
registered capital. 
 
Revaluation reserve 
 
Reserves from revaluation of assets are not immediately available for distribution to shareholders of the 
Company. Part of the revaluation reserve is reclassified to retained earnings based on the difference 
between depreciation from revaluated values and original acquisition values of assets. Revaluation 
reserves are reclassified to retained earnings also by sale, contribution of the part of business or 
liquidation of assets. These transfers to retained earnings are distributable. 
 
Other funds and retained earnings 
 
Other funds and reserves in equity are not distributable to shareholders of the Company. 
 
Based on the decision of the sole shareholder, the Company declared dividends for 2015 totaling  
€500,000 thousand (see also Note 9 and 11). This amount was covered by the profit of 2015 of 
€418,270 thousand and retained earnings of €81,730 thousand. 
 
 

Distribution 
Profit distribution 

for 2015 
 Profit distribution 

for 2014 
    
Contribution to legal reserve fund -  - 
Settlement of loss carried forward -  - 
Dividends  418 270  334,004 
Total profit to be distributed  418 270  334,004 
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Hedging reserves 
 
A hedging reserve represents a cumulative accrued portion of gains and losses arising from a change in 
the fair value of hedging instruments concluded for cash flow hedging. 
 
 

 Year ended  
31 December 2016 

 Year ended  
31 December 2015 

    
Opening balance   52,379  11,126 
Gain/(loss) on cash-flow hedging     
Currency forward contracts -  - 
Commodity forward contracts -  - 
Commodity swap contracts  (13,043)  68,412 
Interest swap contracts -  - 
Deferred Income tax applicable to gains/losses recognized through 
equity 13,938  (11,636) 
Transfer to profit/loss    
Currency forward contracts -  - 
Commodity forward contracts -   -, 
Commodity swap contracts  (50,130)  (15,523) 
Interest swap contracts -  - 
Deferred Income tax applicable to gains/losses recognized through 
equity -  - 
Transfer to initial carrying amount of the hedged item    
Currency forward contracts -  - 
Commodity forward contracts -  - 
Commodity swap contracts  -  - 
Interest swap contracts -  - 
Deferred Income tax applicable to amounts transferred to the initial 
carrying amount of the hedged item -  - 
Closing balance  3,144  52,379 
 
A hedging reserve represents the cumulative effective portion of gains or losses arising from changes in 
fair value of hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges.  
 
A cumulative gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of hedging derivatives that are 
recognized and accrued in the reserve fund of cash flow hedging is reclassified in the income statement 
provided that the hedging transaction has an effect on the income statement or is included as an 
adjustment of the base in the hedged non-financial item in accordance with the applicable accounting 
procedures.  
 
Gains/ (losses) arising from a change in the fair value of the hedging instruments transferred during the 
current period from equity to income statement are disclosed in the following lines of the income 
statement:  
 
 Year ended  

31 December 2016 
 Year ended  

31 December 2015 
    
Revenues from sale of services -  - 
Natural gas transmission  50,130  15,523 
Purchases of natural gas, consumables and services -  - 
Other costs, net 245  271 
Financial expenses -  - 
Income tax charged to expenses -  - 
Total 50,375  15,794 
 
 
 
 
 
 



eustream, a.s. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(€ '000) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
THIS IS A TRANSLATION OF THE ORIGINAL SLOVAK DOCUMENT. 37 

20. REVENUES FROM SALES OF SERVICES 
 
 Year ended  

31 December 2016  
Year ended  

31 December 2015 
    
Natural gas transmission 706,217  758,202 
Other 54,372  18,167 
Total 760,589  776,369 
 
 
In 2016, the Company fully executed a long-term contract for natural gas transmission through the 
Slovak Republic with a significant Russian natural gas exporter. These contracts enable the use of gas 
pipelines in line with the transmission capacity required by this exporter to execute long-term export 
contracts signed with customers in Central and Western Europe. 
 
The Company provides access to the transmission network and transmission services on the basis of 
ship-or-pay contracts. The major user of the network (shipper) is a significant Russian natural gas 
exporter, followed by other customers, usually leading European gas companies transmitting gas from 
Russian and Asian reservoirs to Europe. The major part of the transmission capacity is ordered on the 
basis of long-term contracts, which comprise more than 72% of the Company’s revenues from natural 
gas transmission. In addition, eustream, within the entry-exit transmission system, also concludes short-
term transmission contracts and provides supplementary gas transmission services. 
 
The Company is paid transmission fees directly to its accounts by a relevant shipper or a recipient of 
supplementary services. Tariffs for transmission services have been fully regulated since 2005. The 
regulator annually issues pricing decisions on the basis of a proposal submitted by the Company. 
 
On the basis of the regulated business and pricing terms, shippers also provide the Company with a 
portion of the tariffs in kind as gas for operating purposes, covering gas consumption during the 
operation of the transmission network. In accordance with the regulated trade and price conditions, the 
shippers are allowed to provide this part of the tariff in financial form as well. 
 
The revenues from the transmission of natural gas and the provision of supplementary services are 
originated in the Slovak Republic. 
 
The decrease of revenues in caused mainly from decreased revenues from gas transmission. 
 
 
21. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 
 
 Year ended  

31 December 2016  
Year ended  

31 December 2015 
    
Wages, salaries and bonuses 21,597  22,608 
Pension security costs 2,884  3,032 
Social security costs  4,368  4,591 
Other social security costs and severance pay 3,272  2,051 
Total 32,121  32,282 
 
 
The Company is required to make social and pension security contributions, amounting to 35.2% of 
salary bases as determined by law, up to a maximum amount of approx. €4,290, except for accident 
insurance, where the salary base is not limited. The employees contribute an additional 13.4% of the 
relevant salary base up to the above limits.  
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22. COSTS OF AUDIT SERVICE 
 

 Year ended  
31 December 2016 

 Year ended  
31 December 2015 

    
Audit of the financial statements 23  24 
Other assurance services 42  59 
Related audit services -  2 
Other non-audit services provided by the auditor -  - 
Total 65  85 
 
 
 
23. FINANCIAL INCOME 
 
 Year ended  

31 December 2016 
 Year ended  

31 December 2015 
    
Interest income 4,348  11,782 
FX differences - profit (see Note 25) 7  511 
Dividends 712  675 
Other financial income, net 393  370 
Total 5,460  13,338 
 
 
 
24. FINANCIAL EXPENSE 
 
 Year ended  

31 December 2016 
 Year ended  

31 December 2015 
    
Interest expense  44,633  42,618 
FX differences – loss (see Note 25) 636  494 
Other financial expense 142  87 
Total 45,411  43,199 
 
 
 
25. FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE DIFFERENCES 
 
 Year ended  

31 December 2016 
 Year ended  

31 December 2015 
    
Foreign exchange rate gains (losses) arising from:     
– operating activities  121  (11) 
– financing activities (see Note 23 and 24) (629)  17 
Total (508)  6 
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26. TAXATION 
 
26.1. Income tax 
 
Income tax comprises the following: 
 
 Year ended  

31 December 2016 
 Year ended  

31 December 2015 
    
Current income tax 122,245  128,403 
Special levy 23,474  23,291 
Deferred tax (see Note 26.2) (38,349)  (10,156) 
Total 107,370  141,538 
 
 
The reconciliation between the reported income tax expense and the theoretical amount that would 
arise using the statutory tax rates is as follows: 
 Year ended  

31 December 2016 
 Year ended  

31 December 2015 
    
Profit before taxation 494,798  559,808 
Income tax at 22% and special levy on business in regulated 
industries 132,330  146,449 

Effect of adjustments from permanent differences between 
accounting and tax value of assets and liabilities (519)  561 

Other adjustments (96)  (348) 
Tax impact due to the change in the tax rate from 22% to 21% (19,180)  - 
Effect of special levy as a tax deductible item (5,164)  (5,124) 
Total 107,370  141,538 
 
 
Adjustments primarily include non-tax deductible expenses.  
 
The effective tax rate differs from the statutory tax rate of 22% in 2016 mainly due change in the rate of 
tax rate for the periods from 1 January 2017 and due to the special levy. 
 
For the deferred tax calculation the Company applied income tax rate of 21% that is valid in Slovakia 
from 1 January 2017. 
 
In line with Act No. 235/2012 Coll. on a Special Levy on Business in Regulated Industries and on the 
Amendment to and Supplementation of Certain Acts, the Company is obliged to pay a monthly special 
levy from September 2012. The levy rate is 0.00363 per month based on the profit before tax and is 
presented as a part of the current income tax pursuant to the IFRS requirements. The taxation years 
from 2011 to 2016 are still open for inspection by the tax authorities.  
 
Due to the prudent principle the Company previously accounted for special levy, which arisen in 
connection with the contribution of part of the business on 28 February 2013, however this matter of fact 
is not possible to interpret as a waiving of rights and claims, or as confirmation of applicability of Act  no. 
235/2012 on special levy on the contribution of part of the business. 
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26.2. Deferred tax 
 
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognized by the Company and 
movements therein, during the current and prior reporting periods:  
 

 
At 1 January 

2016 
 

Charge to equity 
for the period 

 

(Debit)/credit to 
profit for the 

period  

At 31 December 
2016 

        
Difference in net book value of  
non-current assets (432,531)  -  37,580  (394,951) 
Revaluation of assets -  (563,106)  1,903  (561,203) 
Change in fair value of derivatives (14,774)  13,938  -  (836) 
Employee benefits and other 
provisions 2,849  -  (170)  2,679 
Provisions for assets 306  -  14  320 
Provisions for inventories 1,919  -  (639)  1,280 
Other 686  -  (339)  347 
Total (441,545)  (549,168)  38,349  (952,364) 
 
 

 
At 1 January 

2015 
 

Charge to equity 
for the period 

 

(Debit)/credit to 
profit for the 

period  

At 31 December 
2015 

        
Difference in net book value of  
non-current assets (441,309)  -  8,778  (432,531) 
Change in fair value of derivatives (3,138)  (11,636)  -  (14,774) 
Employee benefits and other 
provisions 2,805  -  44  2,849 
Provisions for assets 356  -  (50)  306 
Provisions for inventories 1,197  -  722  1,919 
Other 24  -  662  686 
Total (440,065)  (11,636)  10,156  (441,545) 
 
 
In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities were 
mutually offset. The following table shows the balances (after offsetting) of deferred tax for the purposes 
of recognition in the balance sheet:  
 
 At 31 December 

2016 
 At 31 December 

2015 
    
Deferred tax liability 952,364  441,545 
Total 952,364  441,545 
 
Non-current and current part of deferred tax liability: 
 

 
At 31 December 

2016  
At 31 December 

2015 
    

Deferred tax asset expected to be utilized within 12 months   2,449  3,237 
Deferred tax asset expected to be utilized after 12 months   3,034  2,523 
Deferred tax liability expected to be utilized within 12 months   (19,826)  (18,906) 
Deferred tax liability expected to be utilized after 12 months   (938,021)  (428,399) 
Deferred tax liability, net (952,364)  (441,545) 
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27. TAX EFFECTS IN THE STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
Disclosure of tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income: 
 
At 31 December 2016 Before tax  Tax  After tax 
      
Cash flow hedging (63,137)  13,938  (49,235) 
Revaluation of assets 2,229,355  (563,106)  1,666,249 
Reduction in revaluation reserve due to changes in fair value (2)  -  (2) 
Other comprehensive income for the period 2,166,180  549,168  1,617,012 
 
 
At 31 December 2015 Before tax  Tax  After tax 
      
Cash flow hedging 52,889  (11,636)  41,253 
Other comprehensive income for the period 52,889  (11,636)  41,253 
 
 
 
28. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 
 Year ended  

31 December 2016  
Year ended  

31 December 2015 
    
Profit before tax 494,798  559,808 
Adjustments:    

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses, net 142,855  97,564 
Interests, net 40,285  30,836 
Financial investments income (712)  (675) 
FX differences 636  50 
Derivatives 232  (2,329) 
Provisions, allowances and other non-cash items (2,024)  4,087 
(Gain)/loss from sale of non-current assets (36)  (133) 
(Increase)/decrease in receivables and prepayments (404,590)  (345,326) 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 3,069  (320) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other liabilities 172  7,766 

Cash flows from operating activities 274,685  351,328 
 
 
 
29. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Capital Expenditure Commitments 
 
As at 31 December 2016, capital expenditures of €9,368 thousand (as at 31 December 2015: €14,698 
thousand) had been committed under contractual arrangements for the acquisition of non-current 
assets, but were not recognized in the financial statements.  
 
Guarantee issued 
 
The Company is a guarantor for bonds issued by the entity under common control - SPP Infrastructure 
Financing B.V. of €1,274,487 thousand as at 31 December 2016 (as at 31 December 2015: €1,274,448 
thousand). The Company has committed to guarantee repayment of the bonds by SPP Infrastructure 
Financing B.V. and as such is exposed to all the resultant risks. 
 
Operating Lease Arrangements 

The Company leases vehicles under an operating lease agreement. The contracted period is four years 
and the Company has no pre-emptive right to purchase the assets at the end of the lease term. The 
lease payments for the year ended 31 December 2016 were €671 thousand (31 December 2015: €965 
thousand). 
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27. TAX EFFECTS IN THE STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
Disclosure of tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income: 
 
At 31 December 2016 Before tax  Tax  After tax 
      
Cash flow hedging (63,137)  13,938  (49,235) 
Revaluation of assets 2,229,355  (563,106)  1,666,249 
Reduction in revaluation reserve due to changes in fair value (2)  -  (2) 
Other comprehensive income for the period 2,166,180  549,168  1,617,012 
 
 
At 31 December 2015 Before tax  Tax  After tax 
      
Cash flow hedging 52,889  (11,636)  41,253 
Other comprehensive income for the period 52,889  (11,636)  41,253 
 
 
 
28. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 
 Year ended  

31 December 2016  
Year ended  

31 December 2015 
    
Profit before tax 494,798  559,808 
Adjustments:    

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses, net 142,855  97,564 
Interests, net 40,285  30,836 
Financial investments income (712)  (675) 
FX differences 636  50 
Derivatives 232  (2,329) 
Provisions, allowances and other non-cash items (2,024)  4,087 
(Gain)/loss from sale of non-current assets (36)  (133) 
(Increase)/decrease in receivables and prepayments (404,590)  (345,326) 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 3,069  (320) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other liabilities 172  7,766 

Cash flows from operating activities 274,685  351,328 
 
 
 
29. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Capital Expenditure Commitments 
 
As at 31 December 2016, capital expenditures of €9,368 thousand (as at 31 December 2015: €14,698 
thousand) had been committed under contractual arrangements for the acquisition of non-current 
assets, but were not recognized in the financial statements.  
 
Guarantee issued 
 
The Company is a guarantor for bonds issued by the entity under common control - SPP Infrastructure 
Financing B.V. of €1,274,487 thousand as at 31 December 2016 (as at 31 December 2015: €1,274,448 
thousand). The Company has committed to guarantee repayment of the bonds by SPP Infrastructure 
Financing B.V. and as such is exposed to all the resultant risks. 
 
Operating Lease Arrangements 

The Company leases vehicles under an operating lease agreement. The contracted period is four years 
and the Company has no pre-emptive right to purchase the assets at the end of the lease term. The 
lease payments for the year ended 31 December 2016 were €671 thousand (31 December 2015: €965 
thousand). 
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Non-cancellable operating lease payables amount to: 
 
Period 2016  2015 
    
Up to 1 year 671  965 
1 to 5 years  392  1,528 
More than 5 years -  - 
Total 1,063  2,493 
 
 
Taxation 
 
The Company has significant transactions with shareholders and other related parties. The tax 
environment in which the Company operates in the Slovak Republic is dependent on the prevailing tax 
legislation and practice. As the tax authorities are reluctant to provide official interpretations in respect of 
tax legislation, there is an inherent risk that the tax authorities may require, for example, transfer pricing 
or other adjustments of the corporate income tax base. The tax authorities in the Slovak Republic have 
broad powers of interpretation of tax laws which could result in unexpected results from tax inspections. 
The amount of any potential tax liabilities related to these risks cannot be estimated. 
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eustream, a.s. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(€ '000) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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The compensation paid to the members of the Company’s bodies and key management was as 
follows:  
 

 
Year ended 

31 December 
2016 

 
Year ended 

31 December 
2015 

    
Total compensation of the actual and former members of board of 
directors, supervisory board and key management – 1,015  1,034 

of which – Board of Directors and executive management 623  586 
              – Supervisory Board  226  309 
              – Supervisory Committee  103  103 
              – former members of the Board of Directors and executive  

management -  36 

              – former members of the Supervisory Board  63  - 
    
Other long-term benefits to the members of the Board of Directors, 
Supervisory Board, executive management and former members of 
the bodies – total -  72 
of which – Board of Directors and executive management -  - 
              – former members of the Board of Directors and executive 

management 
-  72 

    
Post-employment benefits to the members of the Board of Directors, 
Supervisory Board, executive management and former members of 
the bodies – total 38  - 
of which – Supervisory Board 38  - 
    
Benefits in kind to the members of the Board of Directors, 
Supervisory Board, executive management and former members of 
the bodies - total 16  17 
of which – Board of Directors and executive management 16  17 
              – Supervisory Board -  - 
    
Other remuneration (including loans, guarantees or other 
securitization) to the members of the Board of Directors, Supervisory 
Board, executive management and former members of the bodies – 
total -  - 

    
Total amount of used financial or other remunerations for personal 
use by the Members of statutory body, supervisory body or other 
body of the accounting unit, which are accounted for 17  18 
of which – Board of Directors and executive management 17  16 
           – Supervisory Board -  2 
              – former members of the Board of Directors and executive 

management -  - 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  





Proposal 
of profit distribution for the year 2016 

 
 

The proposal of profit distribution for the year 2016 is prepared in line with the 
Articles of Association of eustream, a.s. Article XXIII – DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT, 
Article XXII – CREATION AND USE OF RESERVE FUND, and in line with the 
provisions of the Commercial Code No. 513/1991 Coll., as amended. 
 
 The proposal of the profit distribution for the year 2016 is based on the audited 
financial statements for the year 2016. 
 
 

I. Profit after tax      387,428,241.22 € 
 
 

II. Allocation to the statutory reserve fund           0.00 € 
in accordance with the Article XXII of 
the Articles of Association the reserve fund 
exceeds 20% of registered capital 

 
 

III. The amount of net profit 
determined as dividends     387,428,241.22 € 

 
 

IV. The amount of retained earnings 
determined as dividends     212,571,758.78 € 

 
 

V. The amount total determined as dividends  600,000,000.00 € 
 
 

VI. Tantiems to the members of the bodies          0.00 € 
 
 
 
Note: 
 
Dividends are to be settled by 100 days as the latest from the approval by the 
General Meeting of shareholders. 
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